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Vision
We are an Icon of Excellence connecting people to each other and the Globe. 

Mission
To provide communities with Financial, Logistics, Postal, Communications and 
Agency services, throughout our network and partnerships with Government and 
business.

Our Values 
  
Botho: We act with respect, courtesy and humility in our dealings with each 
other and our stakeholders.

Integrity: Our everyday actions are guided by honesty, transparency and the 
highest ethical standards.

Courage: We dare to dream, to think big, to embrace change, and to stand 
by our convictions.

Innovation: We continuously seek ways to do our work better and improve 
our service to our customers and partners.

Service Excellence: We take pride in our work and strive for the highest 
standards of quality as befitting an icon of excellence.
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BotswanaPost Today
Emerging technologies such as email and internet services and later cellular phones, 
all followed, reducing the use of a letter as a preferred mode of communication. The 
Post is now looking at harnessing Information and Communication Technologies 
(ICT) to stimulate communication. This is particularly in rural areas, as well as 
business growth in other products like parcel mail and money transfer, which are 
driven by electronic capabilities. We continue to build on this legacy. Communities 
across the country yearn for a Post Office, because of our ability to bring a basket 
of services that no single service provider is able to offer. Our profile continues to 
shift to that of a service provider as we bring more and more services nearer to the 
communities. 
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Our business

Diversified business

When we envisioned the Journey to Excellence in October of 
2009, we never imagined the power of the picture that would 
emerge so strong that on a daily basis we witness the beautiful 
pieces of the mural – that is the Post Office of the future, an 
Icon of Excellence that is connecting people to each other and 
the globe – falling into place.   

Our strategy

> Mail services include both 
letter and parcel delivery and 
revenue from these services is 
recognised upon delivery of the 
mail or parcel to its destination. 

 2012: P35.5m
 2013: P38.1m

> Bulk mail is a mail sorting and 
delivery service offered to 
customers with large mailing 
lists such as banks.

 2012: P34.0m
 2013: P42.5m

> This is an express courier 
service and revenue is 
recognised upon delivery 
of the parcel to its intended 
destination. 

 2012: P6.7m
 2013: P6.3m

> Revenue is recognised when 
the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the 
goods have passed to the 
buyer.

 2012: P1.3m
 2013: P1.2m

P18.1m P42.5m P1.2mP6.3m

Business segments
Mail Revenue Bulk Mail Express Mail Service Philately
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> Revenue from rendering of 
agency services is recognised 
as the services are provided in 
accordance with the terms of 
the agency agreement.

 2012: P79.8m
 2013: P75.6m

> Revenue from 100% 
owned Subsidiary of the 
BotswanaPost Group

 2012: P16.9m
 2013: P19.8m

> BotswanaPost total box 
population stood at 160,350 
as at end of March 2013, with 
80% occupancy rate. 

 2012: 16.1
 2013: 22.5

P75.6m P19.8m P22.5m

Courier subsidiaryAgency Services Box and Bag Rentals 

Five Year Review - Corporation
 31 March   31 March   31 March    31 March    31 March 
  2013   2012   2011   2010   2009 
 P   P   P   P   P 

Revenue 214,178,291   199,581,721   170,508,622   114,966,727   115,354,521 

Cost of Sales  (111,706,949 )  (103,680,922 )  (89,312,384 )  (60,174,762 )  (60,545,223 )

Gross profit  102,471,342   95,900,799      81,196,238   54,791,965   54,809,298   

      

Other income  9,912,945   10,552,169   10,955,111   6,833,591   1,725,951 

Administrative expenses  (123,445,275 )  (99,148,170 )  (90,856,280 )  (73,276,815 )  (60,958,876 )

Other operating expenses  (1,001,615 )  (303,557 )  (6,137,788 )  (32,090 )  (2,716,546 )

Operating profit/(loss)  (12,062,603 )  7,001,241   (4,842,720 )  (11,683,350 )  (7,140,174 )

Finance cost  (14,728,043 )  (8,837,515 )  (4,356,291 )  (3,519,527 )  (629,632 )

Finance income  359,637   561,997   2,213,317   4,112,274   5,801,510 

Restructuring Costs  (50,135,636 )  (2,319,714 )  -     -     -   

Loss for the year  (76,566,645 )  (3,593,991 )   (6,985,695 )  (11,090,604 )  (1,968,297 )

Other comprehensive income:         

Gains and losses on property, plant and 

equipment revaluations  272,483   23,520     -     12,413,264 

Loss for the year  (76,294,162 )  (3,570,471 )   -     (11,090,604)  10,444,967
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The Post evolved over the years into the 
Bechuanaland Protectorate Postal Services. 
At Independence it was transformed into the 
Department of Posts and Telegraphs with 
123 Post Offices and 43 Postal Agencies. 
The portfolio of services also included the 
Post Office Savings Bank. At this time the 
Post was at the centre of communication, 
with the letter perhaps being the fastest 
mode of communication after the telephone, 
which was however only accessible to a 
privileged few. The Post was also at the 
centre of commerce, as most purchases 
were sourced through mail order mainly from 
the Republic of South Africa.

Since Independence, the Post has grown 
in leaps and bounds, with three entities that 

About BotswanaPost

Performance Highlights

Evolution of the Post Office

214

473.5

12.0 1.8

76.3

Revenue

Go online for more details
www.botspost.co.bw

Assets

Operating loss EBIDTA

Loss before tax

million pula

million pula

million pula million pula

million pula

The Postal Services is probably one of the oldest public services in Botswana, having been established 
in 1875 by the London Missionary Society. In those days, pairs of “runners” carried mail between various 
points on a stretch from Bulawayo up to Mahikeng. Historical records indicate that these runners (men on 
foot) carried up to 15,542 postal items of mail per annum. Subsequently, the Post used the train and road 
transport contractors to deliver mail until the late 1990’s when the Post acquired its own fleet of delivery 
vehicles and continued to expand the mail delivery network.

were under the aegis of the Department of 
Posts and Telegraphs being incorporated 
as parastatals due to the ever-changing 
market driven needs. The Botswana 
Telecommunications Corporation and 
Botswana Savings Bank were incorporated 
into parastatals in 1980 and 1982 
respectively and the BotswanaPost in 
1989. At incorporation, the modes of 
communication were changing, accelerated 
development of telecommunications was 
taking place and the phone had become 
more and more accessible to the ordinary 
citizen. Emerging technologies such 
as email and internet services and later 
cellular phones, all followed, reducing the 
use of the letter as a preferred mode of 
communication.
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Financial indicators

Assets
(million)

Up 39% to 
P473.5 million
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Down 22.6% to 
P1.8 million
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About BotswanaPost

Our footprint

An organisation like no other. We are in every community 
everywhere, and we deliver mail to every address.

Oodi
Taung
Ramotswavillage
Riverwalk
S.S.K.A
Sikwane
Thamaga
Thebephatshwa
Tlokweng
Sojwe
Metsimotlhabe
Mathubantwa
Poso House
Masa Post

Lobatse Region
Ghanzi
Charleshill
Kalkfontein
Nojane
Jwaneng
Hukuntsi
Kang
Khakhea
Lehututu
Mabutsane
Motokwe
Middlepits
Tsabong
Werda
Lobatse
Digawana

Goodhope
Mabule
Otse
Pitsane
Sedibeng
Woodhall
Mmasekou
Mahikana
Kanye -Ntsweng 
Mmathethe
Moshupa
Kanye (Tomela)
Molapowabojang

Central Region
Mahalapye
Madiba

Sefhare
Mookane
Machaneng
Kalamare
Pilikwe
Shoshong
Palapye
Lerala
Moeng
Sherwood
Pota
Lecheng
Maokatumo
Tumasera
Ramokgonami
Maunatlala
Serowe

Rasebolai
Moiyabana
Selebi Phikwe
Sefhophe
Botshabelo
Serule
Bobonong
Mmadinare
Tsetsebye 
Semolale

North Region
Boseja
Chobe Buss Centre
Etsha
F/Town Business 
Centre

Francistown
Gumare
Gweta
Kasane
Kavimba
Letlhakane
Maitengwe
Makaleng
Masunga
Mathangwane
Matsiloje
Maun  
Maun Airport
Monarch
Mopipi
Nata
Nkange

Orapa
Pandamatenga
Rakops
Ramokgwebana
Sebina
Sehithwa
Shakawe
Shashe
Sowa
Tatitown
Tonota
Tshesebe
Tutume
F/Town Airport

UB
Letlhakeng

Lobatse Region
Kang
Hukuntsi
Mmathethe
Mabutsane 

Charleshill
Goodhope
Gantsi
Tsabong
Werda
Nojane
Otse
Mabule

Middlepits
Moshupa 

Central Region
Botshabelo
Machaneng
Sefhare
Shoshong 

Moiyabana
Rasebolai
Mmadinare 
Sefhophe
Ramokgonami
Lecheng 
Maunatlala
Mookane

Madiba
Tsetsebye 
Lerala
Bobonong

North Region
Blue Jacket
Chobe

Etsha
Gweta
Letlhakane
Maitengwe
Masunga
Mathangwane
Mopipi
Nata

Rakops
Sebina
Sehithwa
Shakawe
Tonota
Tshesebe
Tutume
Gumare 

Post Offices

Gaborone Region
Bokaa
Bontleng
Broadhurst
Gabane
Gaborone Ub
Gaborone - C.p.o
Gaborone Station
Gaborone Village
Kopong
Lentsweletau
Letlhakeng
Mmankgodi
Mochudi
Mogoditshane
Molepolole
Ntshinoge

Kitsong Centres

Gaborone Region
Gabane
Sikwane
Riverwalk
Masa
Gabs/Station
Poso House
Mmankgodi
Kopong
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Our postal network
Post offices

Postal agencies

Kitsong centres

Future offices

North District

Lobatse/Kgalagadi

Central

Kgalagadi District

South

Kgatleng 
District

South East 
District

North East 
District

Kang
MotokweLehututu

Hukuntsi

Lekgwabe

Bokspits

Middlepits

Tsabong

Makopong Metlobo

Mathethe

Hereford
Molapowabojang

Lotlhakane
Kanye

Mmasekou
Mahikana

Werda

Papatlo
Pitsane

Metlojane
Sedibeng

HebronDigawana
Lobatse Woodhall

Peleng
Otse
Ramotswa Village
Ramotswa Station

Manyana
Mmankgodi

Thamaga

Modipane

Mmathubudukwane
SikwaneMorwa

Bokaa Mochudi
NtshinogeDukwe

Khudumelapye
Takatokwane Kopong

Rasesa
Masomane Mookane

Mapashalala

Machaneng

Ramokgonami
Sherwood ranch

Sefophe-Tsetsebye
Lerala

Lentswelemoriti

Matlhatlhane
Molalatau
Semolale

Bobonong
Batshabelo

Selebi-Phikwe
Serule

Mmadinare

Gobojango

Tonota
MatsilojeShashe

Tati Siding
Tati TownBorolong

Sechele
Francistown
Monarch
Tshesebe
Ramokgwebana

MapokaZwenshambe
NhlaphwaneMasunga

Makaleng MorokaSebina
Mathangwane

Tutume
Nkange

Maitengwe

Mabeleapodi
Tshimoyapula

Mmashoro

Letlhakane
Orapa

Mosu
Mmatshumo

Kalakamati
Marapong

Nswazwi

Mopipi
Xhumo

Rakops
Khumaga

Sowa
MosetseGweta

MakalamabediBoseja
Sehitwa

Nokaneng

Etsha
SerongaSepopa

Shakawe Kavimba
Parakarungu

Satau
Kasane
Chobe Post Office

Maun Airport
Nata

Botshabelo

Makwate

Madiba
Dibete

Sefhare
Mahalapye

Pilikwe
Majwaneng

Lecheng
PalapyePotaSerowe

TamasaneRasebolai
Paje

Maunatlala
Mogapi

MoengRadiseleKalamare

Thabala
Shoshong

Moiyabana
Thabala

Mogorosi

Thebephatshwa Mathubantwa

Lephephe

Mmutlane

Molepolole

Sojwe
Lentsweletau

Letlhakeng

Ntlhantlhe
Mogobane

Ranaka

Goodhope

Khakhea

Maokane Ntsweng Moshupa
Jwaneng

Mabutsane

Ncojane

Kole

Charleshill
Karakobis

Kalkfontein

Ghanzi

Tshane

Gabane
Kumakwane

Gaborone west

Tlokweng

Mogoditshane

Old Naledi

Gaborone Station

Bontleng

Poso House

Riverwalk

Metsimotlhabe

Gaborone Village
Gaborone Central

Broadhurst

SSKB

Gunutsoga
Gumare

Gaborone Station 
Area
Manyana
Kumakwane
Gakuto
Mokolodi

Ghanzi Area 
Karikubis 
Kole 
Kcagae 
Lobatse Area
Hebron 
Metlojane 
Molapowabojang
Ntlhantlhe 

Mogobane 
Ramatlabama 

Jwaneng Area
Maokane
Sese
Lorolwane
Sekoma 
Makopong
Hereford 
Tshane 
Lokgwabe 

Mmasekou Areas 
Ranaka 
Lotlhakane 

Metlobo 

Tsabong Areas 
Boravast

Bobonong Areas 
Gobojango 
Lentswele-Moriti 
Mathathane 
Molalatau 

Mahalapye Areas 
Mmaphashalala
Radisele
Dibete
Makwate 

Pallaroad 

Palapye Areas 
Majwaneng
Ratholo
Tamasane
Seleka

Sefhare Areas 
Moshopha

Selibe Phikwe Areas
Mogapi
Tobane 

Serowe Areas 

Mabeleapudi
Mmashoro 
Mogorosi
Thabala 
Tshimoyapula 
Paje 

F/Town Areas 
Borolong
Chadibe
Kalakamati
Marapong
Mapoka
Mosetse
Nswazwi  
Tatisiding

Marobela

Kasane Areas 
Parakarungu
Satau
Kachikau

Letlhakane  Areas 
Mmatshumo
Mosu

Ramokgwebana 
Areas 
Moroka
Nhlaphwane 

Rakops Areas 
Khumaga
Xhumo

Masunga Areas 
Zwenshambe

Maun Areas
Makalamabedi
Nokaneng
Sepopa
Seronga
Gunotshoga 
Shorobe

Sehithwa Areas 
Tsau

Postal Agencies

Mochudi Area
Morwa
Rasesa (PA)
Mosomane
Modipane (PA)
Sikwane Post Office 
Malolwane (PA)
Mathubudukwane(Pa)

Molepolole Area
Dutlwe (PA)
Lephephe 
Letlhakeng Post 
Takatokwane
Khudumelapye 
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rental at any post office across the country, 
pay any month of the year, and rent a box 
from any location across the country.

Reviews  
Chairman’s Statement 10
Message from the Chief Executive 18
Business and Operational Report 18
Human Resources Report 28
Financial Review                                 30

Home Postal Boxes
BotswanaPost total post box population stood at 160,350 as at end of March 2013, with 
80% occupied. 20% of these were vacant, the majority of which are in small villages with less 
disposable income. 3,600 new Boxes were installed in the Gaborone Region during the year. 
Occupancy remains the largest in individuals at 92% and followed by business 5%, postal 
agencies 2%, Government and parastatals 1%.The largest occupancy rates are in towns and 
major villages, as seen in the following break down: Gaborone Region at 48% followed by 
North, central and Lobatse Kgalagadi at 20%, 17%, 15% respectively. 

Postal agencies have the largest number of vacancies at 61% translating to potential annual 
revenue of P341, 445. However, the unoccupied boxes at post offices and kiosks amount to 
a possible revenue of P1 million per annum if rented out.

The Riposte box management system that was launched in April 2011 has greatly improved 
the management of boxes and bags. It has made it easier for customers to pay their annual 
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Chairman’s Statement

A Technologically Advanced 
And Innovative Post Office

“BotswanaPost reinvents itself. Not only is BotswanaPost working towards 
remaining a relevant world class innovative service provider that caters for the 
needs of its diverse base of customers, it also remains accessible to citizens of 
Botswana regardless of their geographical location.”

Martin Makgatlhe - Chairman
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Botswana as a market has changed fundamentally over the last 
few years. Shifting customer needs and expectations continue 
to lessen demand for traditional mail volumes as the allure of  
safe and convenient electronic services increases. 

At the axis of this is customers’ need for fast and reliable 
convenient methods of conducting everyday business – from 
making payments and other transactions to staying in touch 
with friends, loved ones and business partners across the 
country and the globe. 

The change has necessitated that BotswanaPost reinvents 
itself. Not only is BotswanaPost working towards remaining 
a relevant world class innovative service provider that 
caters for the needs of its diverse base of customers, it also 
remains accessible to citizens of Botswana regardless of their 
geographical location. Thus we are proud of our unmatched 
network of 123 post office branches across Botswana, some 
of whom underwent refurbishment in 2012/2013, to reflect the 
direction BotswanaPost is taking. 

In line with our vision to become “An Icon of Excellence – 
connecting people to each other and the globe”, our objective 
is to be more than just a post office. Efforts are towards 
transforming BotswanaPost into a technologically advanced 
and innovative as well as financially sustainable commercial 
entity that caters for the needs of both its customers and 
Shareholder. Our PosoPay e-portal, launched during the year 
under review, is a prime example.

Guiding us is our corporate strategy which was adopted in 
2011, and given a revised target year during the period under 
review of 2016. This was in cognisance of the milestones that 
still need to be reached. The extension will further strengthen 
the building blocks we have, to ensure BotswanaPost’s 
success. Our mission continues to be unaltered. We want to 
become a P500 million company with a cost to income ratio of 
60% by 2016.  

Performance Review 
The year 2012/2013 was a challenging one for BotswanaPost. 
Universal service, the provision of postal services to many 
areas of Botswana came under review as we assessed 
business sustainability. The lack of a Government subsidy has 
put immense pressure on BotswanaPost’s financial situation. 
This is as we remain obliged to deliver on our universal service 
commitments without funding support. We do so despite 
estimates conducted two years ago revealing that the universal 
service mandate accounted for 65% of our costs. This has 
burdened our finances. 

In the year ended March 31, 2013, our revenue grew by 7% 
to P214 million. This is below ideal levels. Gross profit rose 
to P102 million from P96 million. This year, BotswanaPost 
registered a loss of P76.3 million. The significant contributor to 
this loss is  the staff rationalisation that we undertook as part of 
efforts to streamline operations, improve efficiencies and attract 
new skills critical to the company’s transformation. The cost to 
the company was P50 million. 

The cost of providing universal services access is  evidently 
impeding majorly on our ability to effectively execute our 
corporate strategy, the Icon of Excellence. The strategy is 
anchored on the three pillars of business growth, operational 
efficiency and customer service excellence.

The staff rationalisation exercise has paved the way for 
BotswanaPost to position itself as an employer of choice in the 
critical skills arena. The intention is to build a high performance 
culture within the organisation, strengthen employee relations, 
and deliver exceptional customer service. 

When we set ourselves the target to become a P500 million 
company with a cost to income ratio of 60% by 2016, we did 
so deliberately and very conscious of the conditions under 

+7%
Revenue for the year grew 
by 7% during 2012/13 to 
P214 million, compared 
to overall economic 
performance of around 
4.5% for the period.

20
0m 21

4m
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2012 +6%
Gross profit rose to 
P102 million from 
P96 million. P9

6m P1
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which we are operating. These include the changes in our 
business environment in terms of customer demands and 
preferences, and the lack of  subvention for universal services. 
However, we took a conscious decision as the Board to 
bite the bullet and go about our strategic mandate of taking 
BotswanaPost to new heights. Thus our decision to diversify 
our income streams through the introduction of electronic 
business and other customer solutions inspired by ICT. 
We have been very fortunate to have attracted the calibre 
of partners we have. These partnerships will catapult our  
business to new growth heights. More importantly, they will 
enhance our value proposition. 

Universal Access and Funding 
There were a great deal of shareholder issues that were 
addressed during the year under review. These are concerns 
that had been hamstringing the business and which have been 
finally resolved. 

One of these is the issue of funding. We have finally come to an 
agreement with our shareholder who has also bought into our 
blue print of where we want to be. 

During 2012/2013, BotswanaPost was also given the 
authority to go to the market to borrow funding. The result 
of this achievement is that we were able to do a number of 
projects such as refurbishing our head office, Poso House, and 
upgrading some of our branches to feature service-orientated 
structures that articulate our promise to communities, that 
BotswanaPost is here to provide them with great service. These 
include our smaller branches in villages.  The funds were also 
used to finance the staff rationalisation exercise.

Also, during the period under review, Parliament passed a 
key legislation in the form of the Communications Regulatory 
Authority (CRA) Act, establishing Botswana Communications 
Regulatory Authority (BOCRA).The Act will, among others, 
liberalise the postal sector, meaning that the statutory monopoly 
of the Post to operate postal and related services in terms of 
Botswana Postal Services Act, 1989, will be taken away and 
other postal operators can come into the market. Significantly 
the post services will become a regulated sector, and universal 
service obligation will be defined, potentially allowing for funding 
for universal service access. 

Birth of a New Post Office
The year under review registered significant progress on 
the merger between BotswanaPost and Botswana Savings 
Bank. The name of the merged company Botswana Post and 
Savings Group Limited, was approved by cabinet and the 
registration of same at the Registrar of Companies was put 
in motion. Constitutions for the subsidiary companies were 
also drafted and approved by the Ministry of Transport and 
Communications. The appointment of the Board of the holding 
company was concluded after the end of the year.  

As the primary objective of the merger is to optimise utilisation 
of resources and improve efficiencies in the provision of 
services among Parastatals and Public Entities through shared 
institutional services, BotswanaPost and BSB are to be merged 
into a single entity with the capability to provide public banking 
and postal services. The merger represents a new revenue 
stream for the company in line with our efforts to diversify our 
income streams. It also brings into focus a group of companies 
that complement one another. 

It is therefore expected that in the ensuing period, the holding 
company will commence business and build up to completing 
the merger as the subsidiaries register as companies accordingly.

Investing in our Communities 
We are very proud of the work of the BotswanaPost 
Foundation. We established the Foundation in the previous 
financial year out of the recognition that BotswanaPost has 
to play a meaningful role in developing our communities as a 
responsible corporate citizen. Through the Foundation, we want 
to support Government’s key programmes, notably the Adopt-
a-School Initiative and the Poverty Eradication Drive. 

During the year, BotswanaPost Foundation launched its 
inaugural projects in Kacgae village, in the Gantsi District, which  
include the erection of a library and a computer laboratory 
at Kacgae Primary School and a Postal Agency for the 
community.

Chairman’s Statement

“The year under review registered significant progress on the merger between 
BotswanaPost and Botswana Savings Bank. The name of the merged 
company Botswana Post and Savings Group Limited, was approved by 
cabinet and the registration of same at the Registrar of Companies was put in 
motion.”
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Into the Future
For BotswanaPost, the focus continues to be on leveraging our 
assets. On the property front, as part of our Property Strategy, 
we remain focused on unlocking value. A key focus going 
forward will be investing on our property portfolio to make them 
relevant to the times we are living in. We will also be looking 
at forming strategic partnerships to continue diversifying our 
products portfolio 

As we continue on this journey to realise our vision to become 
“An Icon of Excellence”, we will remain absorbed in realigning 
our services and workforce, to connecting the communities to 
each other and the rest of the globe. 

I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to fellow Board 
members, our customers, our shareholder, employees and the 
management team for their contributions in making this another 
successful year in the BotswanaPost story.

Ke a leboga

Martin Makgatlhe - Chairman

PosoPay e-portal: 24 hour access to 
services
POSOPAY is an e-commerce portal that allows provision of all postal services and provides third party products online. 
Currently the portal offers stationery and e-ticketing to the public. BotswanaPost recognises that the business landscape, 
competition and the way of doing business in general is highly influenced by technology especially the internet, and 
customer sophistication.

The final phase of the online service will enable customers to access retail services and products that are traditionally 
offered in post offices such as stamps, P.O Box and Private Bag renewals, bill payments and agency services.
The transaction environment is highly secure and meets all the requirements of international online trade such as VISA, 
MASTERCARD and all international payment gateways compliant.
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Pego ya Modulasetilo

Poso e e Itlhomileng Kwa Pele 
Mo Go Tsa Boranyane

“BotswanaPost e ikaga sesha. BotswanaPost ga e a tlhoafalela fela gonna 
sekgantshwane sa bodichabachaba se se melediwang mathe mo go ntsheng 
ditirelo, se se lolameng mo go direleng badirisi ba sone ba ba farologaneng 
mo go kalokalo; mme gape e atametse le baagi ba Botswana botlhe go sa 
kgathalesege gore ba fa kae.”

Martin Makgatlhe - Modulasetilo
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Mmaraka wa Botswana o fetogile fela thata mo dingwageng 
tse di mmalwanyana tse di fetileng. Dikeletso le ditsholofelo 
tsa badirisi ba ditirelo tsa Poso di tsweletse ka go fetoga, 
ba itomaganya le ngwao ya mekoakoa ya dikwalo mme 
ba ikamanya le ditirelo tsa boranyane tse e leng gore di 
babalesegile e bile di motlhofo.

Modirisi wa Poso le ene o tlhoka ditsela tse di bofefo, di 
babalesegile e bile di le motlhofo tsa go dira tiro ya letsatsi 
le letsatsi – go simolola fela ka go duela le tse dingwe tse di 
amanang le madi go fitlhelela ka go itshwaraganya le ditsala, ba 
masika le ba ba gwebang le ene mo Botswana le lefatshe ka 
bophara.

Phetogo e e pateleditse BotswanaPost go inchafatsa. 
BotswanaPost ga e a tlhoafalela fela go nna sekgantshwane 
sa bodichabachaba, se se melediwang mathe mo go ntsheng 
ditirelo, se se lolameng mo go direleng badirisi ba sone ba ba 
farologanyeng; mme gape e atametse Batswana botlhe go sa 
kgathalesege gore ba fa kae.

Ka go rialo, re motlotlo ka diposo tsa rona tse di lekgolo, 
masome a mabedi le boraro (123) tse di leng teng Botswana ka
bophara. Dingwe tsa tsone di nchafaditswe ka ngwaga 
wa 2012/2013 go tsamaelana le tsela e BotswanaPost e e 
tsayang.

Kamang le tebelopele ya rona ya go nna “sekgantshwane 
sa botswerere se se tshwaraganyang merafe ka bongwe ka 
bongwe ga mmogo le lefatshe ka bophara,” maikaelelo a rona 
ke gore re seka ra nna Poso fela. Maikemisetso ke go fetolela 
BotswanaPost go nna lekalana le le itlhomileng kwa pele mo go 
tsa boranyane e bile le itshimololela ditirelo, mme e bile le dira 
dipoelo tse di tlaa dirang gore le itsetsepele ka bolone le ntse le 
tlhokometse tse di tlhokwang ke badirisi le ba ba kopanetseng 
kgwebo le lone. Go duela re dirisa maranyane (PosoPay 
e-portal). Ditirelo tse di simolotswe semmuso mo ngwageng o 
wa 2012/2013, se e le sekai sa maikemisetso a.

Moono wa ditogamaano, a a rurifaditsweng ka 2011, a e leng 
one a re supegetsang tsela, a okelediwa lebaka go ya go tsena 
ka ngwaga ya 2016.  Koketso e e dirilwe ka lebaka la gore 
gone go santse go na le tse di tshwanetseng go fitlhelelwa. Se 
se tsamaalana le tema e re sa ntseng re lebeletse go e wetsa. 
Kokeletso le lebaka e tlaabo e nonotshe le go feta dipolwane 
tse re bopelang ka tsone go netefatsa gore BotswanaPost e a 
atlega. Maitlamo a rona one ga a a fetoga. Re batla gore e re 
ka ngwaga wa 2016 re bo re le kompone ya boleng jwa P500 
million e e dirisang 60% wa letseno fela mo ditshenyegelong.

Ka fa re dirileng ka teng
BotswanaPost e ne e farafarilwe ke dikgwetlho ka ngwaga wa 
2012/2013. Ka fa re direlang dikgaolo tsa Botswana ka bontsi 
ka teng go ne ga senoga ka re ne re sekaseka itsetsepelo ya 
bogwebi jwa rona. Go tlhoka go re tlhofofaletsa morwalo ga 
Puso go babaletse thata seemo sa rona sa madi ka ntlha ya 
fa re patelesega go diragatsa maitlamo a rona a ditirelo tsa 
kakaretso mme re sa bone dithuso tsa madi gope. Re dira jalo 
fela le fa dikabelelo tse di dirilweng dingwaga tse pedi tse di 
fetileng di supile gore ditirelo tsa rona tsa kakaretso di tsaya 
selekanyo sa masome a marataro le botlhano mo lekgolong 
(65%) la ditshenyegelo tsa rona. Se se kokonetse seemo sa 
rona sa madi.

Mo ngwageng o o fedileng ka Mopitlo a le 31, ka 2013, madi 
a re a phuthileng a totile ka bosupa mo lekgolong (7%) go ya 
kwa go to P214 million. Selekanyo se se kwa tlase ga se se 
eletsegang. 

Dipoelo tse di sobokilweng di godile tsa nna P102 million 
go tswa mo go P96 million. Monongwaga, BotswanaPost 
e gatisitse tatlhegelo ya P76.3 million. Tshoso e rweleng mo 
tatlhegelong e ke go sekaseka le go tlhabolola  bodiredi mo 
re neng ra go dira e le maiteko a go lolamisa le go tokafatsa 
ditirelo, ga mmogo le go oka botsipa jo boncha go tsamaalana 
le go nchafatsa kompone. Tiro e e weditswe ka tlhotlhwa ya 
P50 million.

Tlhotlhwa ya go ntsha ditirelo tsa kakaretso e bonala fela sentle 
gore e kgoreletsa bokgoni jwa go diragatsa maikemisetso 
a rona a tsa kgwebo, e leng go nna sekgantshwane sa 
botswerere. Maikemisetso a a ikaegile ka dipinagare tse 
tharo; e leng kgodiso ya kgwebo, go dira ka bonokopila 
le go dira go kgotsofatsa modirisi. Go fokotsa badiri go 
betletse BotswanaPost tsela ya go itshetlela jaaka mohiri wa 
mmamoratwa wa boremelelo jwa bonokopila jwa konokono mo
dintlheng tse di farologaneng. Maikaelelo ke go aga ngwao 
le go ntsha ditirelo tse di kwa godimo mo komponeng, go 
nonotsha tomagano le bodiredi ga mmogo le go ntshetsa 
setshaba ga tshwene.

Fa re ne re itlama gore e re ka 2016 re be re le kompone ya 
boleng jwa P500 million mme re dirisa 60% wa letseno fela mo 
ditshenyegelong, re ne re itse sentle mabaka a re berekelang 
mo go one. Mabaka a a akaretsa diphetogo mo go gwebeng 
ga rona mabapi le tse di tlhokwang ebile di elediwa ga mmogo 
le go tlhoka go thusiwa mo go ntsheng ditirelo tsa rona tsa 
kakaretso.
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Le fa go ntse jalo, re ne ra tsaya tshwetso re le khuduthamaga 
go itsolopanya, ra tswelela le maitlamo a rona a go tsholeletsa 
BotswanaPost kwa mankalankaleng. Ke ka moo re tsereng 
tshwetso go atolosa metswedi ya rona ya madi ka go 
simolodisa tiriso ya tsa boranyane mo kgwebong le tharabololo 
ya  dingongora tsa ba re ba direlang, ka tlhotlheletso ya tsa 
boranyane. Re segofetse fela thata go bo re ngokile mohuta wa 
balekane ba re nang le bone. Balekane ba, ba tlaa tsholeletsa 
kgwebo ya rona golo go se fa. Mme bogolo segolo ba tlaa 
nonotsha dikakanyo tsa rona tsa botlhokwa.

Go fitlhelelwa ke mongwe le mongwe 
le tse di amang madi a re a fiwang
Go ne go ntse go na le dikgang tse di amang mong wa kgwebo 
“Puso” tse di rarabolotsweng mo ngwageng ya pego e. Tse ke 
tsone dikgang tse di neng di tshwenya.

Mangwe a mathata a e ne e le madi a re a fiwang ke Puso re 
feletse re dumalana le Puso, yo o bileng a wetse mo tseleng 
ya rona ya kwa re go yang. Ka 2012/2013, BotswanaPost e 
ne ya fiwa tetla ya go tsena mo mmarakeng go adima madi. 
Maduo a kadimo eo ke gore re ne ra kgona go dira ditiro di 
le mmalwanyana jaaka go tlhabolola ntlo kgolo ya rona Poso 
House, le go tsholetsa seemo sa diposo tsa rona gore di lebege 
sentle jaaka tse di tlhomameng mo go direleng sechaba e bile 
di supa maikemisetso a rona a gore BotswanaPost e diretswe 

go tlamela sechaba ka ditirelo tsa maemo. Nchafatso e e 
akaretsa le makalana a rona a mabotlana kwa magaeng. Madi 
a ne gape a dirisiwa mo tirong ya go tlhabolola bodiredi.
Gape mo go yone nako e, Palamente e ne ya fetisa molao 
wa botlhokwatlhokwa wa Communications Regulatory 
Authority (CRA), o o tlhomamisang Botswana Communications 
Regulatory Authority (BoCRA). Molao o o tlaa dira gore 
mohama wa diposo o gololesege, mo go rayang gore go 
bo Poso e ne e kete e ikgagapeletse ditirelo tsotlhe tse di 
amanang le tsa go posa jaaka e ne e letlelelwa ke Botswana 
Postal Services Act ya 1989, go tlaa ema, ka jaana badiredi 
ba bangwe ba tse di amanang le go posa ba tlaa goroga mo 
mmarakeng. Segolo bogolo mohama wa tirelo ya tsa Poso o 
tlaa laolwa, mme go aba ditirelo tsa kakaretso go nitamisiwe, 
gongwe go bo go kgontshe gore ditirelo tsa go nna jalo di 
ntshediwe madi.

Go tsalwa ga ofisi ya Poso e ncha
Mo ngwageng o wa pego e, go ne ga dirwa go bonala mo 
go kopanyeng BotswanaPost le Botswana Savings Bank 
(BSB). Mo godimo ga moo, leina la kompone e e okametseng 
makalana a a tshwaragantsweng, Botswana Post le BSB eleng 
Botswana Post and Savings Group Limited, le ne la dumalanwa 
ke khuduthamaga ya matona a Puso la ba la kwadisiwa ka 
fa molaong. Melao-metheo ya dikompone tse di ka fa tlase 
ga yone le yone e ne ya kwalwa ya ba ya atlwa ke Lephata la 

Pego ya Modulasetilo
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Dipalamo le Ditlhaeletsanyo. Go tlhongwa ga khuduthamaga 
ya kompone e ncha go ne ga wediwa morago ga ngwaga wa 
pego e.

Jaaka maikaelelo magolo a go tshwaraganngwa e le go 
dirisa ditsompelo ka botswerere le go tokafatsa ditirelo tse di 
ntshiwang ke makalana a a tshwaraganetseng kgwebo le Puso 
ga mmogo le a Puso ka go tlhakanela ditlamelo, BotswanaPost 
le BSB di tlaa tshwaraganngwa, go tsisetsa Batswana ditirelo 
tsa poso le tsa madi. Kopano e e raya motswedi o mosha wa 
madi go tsamaalana le maiteko a rona a go atolosa metswedi 
ya rona ya madi. Kopano e gape e tlhomame mo setlhopheng 
sa dikompone tse di berekisanyang gore maduo e nne a 
a bonalang. Ka jalo, go solofetswe gore morago ga moo, 
kompone e e tsetsweng ke bokopano jo, e simolole tiro e ntse 
e gatela pele kwa go konoteleleng jaaka fa tse di potlana di tlaa 
bo di ikwadisa go ya ka fa tsamaisong.

Go jala peo mo sechabeng
Re motlotlo thata ka tiro ya BotswanaPost Foundation. Re 
tlhomile Foundation mo ngwageng wa madi o o fetileng re 
sena go lemoga fa BotswanaPost e na le boikarabelo mo go 
tlhabololeng sechaba jaaka mogwebi wa mo gae yo o nang 
le maikarabelo. Ka letlole le, re batla go ema mananeo a 
konokono a puso nokeng, segolo bogolo la go itlhokomelela 
sekole (Adopt-a-School Initiative) le la Nyeletso Lehuma 
(Poverty Eradication Drive).

Mo go one ngwaga o, BotswanaPost Foundation e ne ya 
simolodisa semmuso dithuso tsa bo pelothomogi kwa motseng 
wa Kacgae, kwa kgaolong ya Gantsi, ka go aga motlobo wa 
dibuka le ntlwana ya borutelo ya dikhomputara kwa sekoleng 
se sebotlana sa Kacgae, ga mmogo le Poso e potlana ya 
motse.

Tebelopele
Re le BotswanaPost, re tsweletse ka go tlhoma matlho a 
rona mo go diriseng matlotlo a rona ka bokgabane. Mo go 
tsa dikago, re tsweletse ka go tlhomama mo go tsholetseng 
boleng. Se segolo e tlaa bo e le go beeletsa mo dikagong tsa 
rona go di nyalanya le dinako tsa segompieno. Gape re tlaa dira 
botsalano le ba bangwe go tswelela re atolosa mahumo a rona.

Jaaka re tsweletse mo mosepeleng o go diragatsa tebelopele 
ya rona ya go nna “sekgantshwane sa botswerere,” re tlaa nna 

re tsepame mo go tsamaisanyeng ditirelo tsa rona le bodiredi 
go tshwaraganya merafe ka bongwe ka bongwe ga mmogo le 
lefatshe ka bophara.

Malebo 

Ke batla go tsaya sebaka se go lebogela go tswa boteng jwa 
pelo ya me maloko a khuduthamaga ka nna, badirisi ba ditirelo 
tsa rona, mong wa kgwebo, e bong Puso, badiri ba Poso le 
baokamedi ka seabe sa bone go dira gore ngwaga o e nne o 
mongwe wa katlego mo BotswanaPost.

Ke a leboga

Martin Makgatlhe - Modulasetilo
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Business and Operational Report

Customer-focused postal services
“The urge to communicate lies at the heart of every human society. It is 
the basic impulse which enables culture and civilisation. But through the 
ages, changing technology has allowed us to express this impulse in ever 
more sophisticated ways and the Post Office has been an integral aspect 
of societal communications.”

Pele Moleta - Chief Executive

Mail Revenue (P91.8m), Merchandise 
(P35.6m) and Agency payments (P39.0m) 
remain the highest contributors to the 
overall revenue during the 2013 year to 
date. The overall revenue for the year is 
30% below 2013 budget. 

+85%

90
%

2012

The target mail delivery 
standard of J + (0-3) of 85% 
was met nationally.

85
%

2013
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The urge to communicate lies at the heart of every human 
society. It is the basic impulse which enables culture and 
civilisation. But through the ages, changing technology has 
allowed us to express this impulse in ever more sophisticated 
ways and the Post Office has been an integral aspect of 
societal communications. The Post has traditionally enabled 
families, friends and business acquaintances to keep in touch 
across increasingly great distances, with ever-greater reliability 
and lower cost. However, the communications landscape has 
changed fundamentally over the past decade. It is therefore 
incumbent upon postal operators to take stock of these 
changes in order to re-invent their businesses, to remain the 
relevant 21st century institutions, and to be responsive to 
customer needs.

Modernisation Drive 
BotswanaPost is currently in the midst of a far-reaching 
transformation, as we seek to modernise our services. We have 
been able to lay a solid foundation for this transformation so 
far. Our aim is for BotswanaPost to be a highly technological 
company and to become a one-stop-shop for our customers 
offering an upmarket service experience with global product 
offerings and business centres.  This will be achieved through 
the full implementation of our Icon of Excellence strategy.

During the year under review, the Board found it appropriate 
to extend the period of implementation from an initial deadline 
of 2014 to 2016, in recognition of challenges we encountered 
such as access to funding, timely decision-making, funding 
the Universal Service Obligation, workforce renewal, and 
shareholder compact. For the remainder of the strategy period, 
we will focus on executing the various initiatives already under 
way and effective measurement of value. 

The revised attainment date aligns our strategy to Botswana’s 
national vision 2016. By this date, ICT should have enabled 
access to progressively more services, including those of 
Government, to people even in remote areas. BotswanaPost’s 
modernisation will be a critical driver in realising this national 
vision, as we bring more services to customers and improve 
access to the Post Office.

As previously reported and observed, the Botswana Postal 
Services, Botswana Savings Bank and Botswana Couriers 
merger is progressing. For historical note, the Government, 
through the Public Enterprise Evaluation and Privatisation 
Agency (PEEPA), undertook a review of the 2006 Strategy for 
the Rationalisation of certain Parastatals and Public Entities 
in 2009. The primary objective of the revised strategy was to 
optimise utilisation of resources and improve efficiencies in the 
provision of services among Parastatals and Public Entities 
through shared institutional services. A recommendation was 
thus made to merge the Post, and its subsidiary Botswana 

Couriers and Botswana Savings Bank into a single entity with 
the capability to provide public banking and postal services. 
After consideration of the recommendations of the strategy, 
the Government decided that the merged entity will fall under 
the portfolio of the Ministry of Transport and Communications.  
This merging process required modification and enactment of 
necessary and enabling legislative framework. 

In this regard the Botswana Postal Services Act (1989) was 
amended through the Botswana Postal Services (amendment) 
Act of 2012. Parallel to the amendment was the passing 
of Botswana Savings Bank (Amendment) Act of 2012 and 
the Communication Regulatory Authority Act of 2012 (CRA 
Act). The CRA Act created the Botswana Communications 
Regulatory Authority (BOCRA), which will be responsible among 
others for regulating the Post. In terms of the revised legislative 
framework, the Post will be subject to a regulatory authority in 
the same vein as BSB will be regulated by Bank of Botswana. 
Noting this different regulatory authority’s regime for the entities, 
the merger will have the institutions functioning as separate 
business units reporting to the holding group. 

Mail Services
BotswanaPost is driving step changes within our existing 
business areas, such as our hybrid mail solution for businesses 
and Express Mail Services (EMS). These efforts have paid off so 
far and we are pleased with their performance. Mail production 
through the hybrid solution experienced a volume growth rate of 
35%.

The target mail delivery standard of J + (0-3) of 85% was met 
nationally.

We continue to drive automation in mail sorting, which saves 
time and resources, and have outsourced transportation to 
Botswana Couriers, our subsidiary company, to further reduce 
costs. This move has enabled us to leverage the existing 
transport matrix offered by Botswana Couriers, thereby 
reducing the number of vehicles on routes.

We are continually striving to improve efficiencies and growth 
in this division, our core business. We are reviewing the 
automated sorting process, with an expected sorting target 
output of 85% of all mail classes. This review has reduced the 
time taken to process mail, thus saving resources.

We aim to enhance our service to customers with an online 
track and trace facility and the introduction of Short Message 
Service (SMS) and email notifications for registered mail, parcels 
and Expedited Mail Services. This will improve customer 
experience and build trust in the BotswanaPost brand. 



Botswana Postal Services Annual Report 201320

Business and Operational Report

Property Services 
The development of a Property Strategy was completed during 
the second quarter of the financial year, and is designed to 
guide us in unlocking value from our property portfolio in line 
with our corporate strategy. Through the Property Strategy, we 
plan to generate P10 million in revenue from ground rent in the 
short term to grow our balance sheet by P1 billion by 2016 and 
accrue long term benefits from gross rentals.

The refurbishment of the BotswanaPost Headquarters (Poso 
House), was completed in the period under review. Poso House 
now has over 500 square metres of prime office space available 
for letting. As part of the refurbishment we now have a larger 
modern Post Office and a Philately Museum on the ground 
floor. The Poso House Post Office is designed to offer modern 
banking standards with associated security features and 
facilities for people with disabilities. The Philately museum offers 
a research facility to promote stamp retailing, merchandising 
and stamp collecting to drive our efforts in diversifying and 
enhancing our revenue streams.

Also during the period under review, we began constructing 
three new model post offices in Letlhakeng, Hukuntsi and 
Gumare to the tune of P7.95 million. These are scheduled 
for completion during the 2013/2014 financial year. The new 
model, which is intended to be a blueprint for the future Post 
Office, includes improved office ergonomics and enhanced 
security features with accessibility options and counters for 
people with disabilities. For improved customer interface, 
the Branch Manager’s office is within the Banking Hall. The 
revamped post offices offer a vibrant ambience for customers, 
and we believe represent the right direction in terms of our 
branch network outlook.

In the period under review, two Village Development Committee  
(VDC) postal structures were elevated to postal agency status. 
These new postal agencies, in Kacgae and Gakuto villages in 
the Gantsi and Kweneng districts are in line with our plan to 
increase our touch points in providing services and convenience 
to communities. The two facilities are serviced with renewable 
energy (solar power), as part of our commitment to saving 
energy and protecting the environment. 

Diversification
In a tough environment, we continue to push for diversity of 
products and services. By continuing to improve efficiencies 
and cement new partnerships, we will be able to forge ahead 
with our growth agenda. In our view, there are still opportunities 
we can exploit, even in a depressed market. We are uniquely 
placed to unearth such opportunities and offer them to our 
partners for mutual benefit. We thus expect to record better 
growth in 2013/14.

We are in the process of adopting a Partnership Policy, 
through which we hope to identify new partnerships to enable 
growth of our business and improve our provision services to 
communities in an affordable and valuable manner. In turn, 
this helps us to remain relevant to an ever-growing segment of 
Botswana citizens, while ensuring cost effectiveness, value add 
and improving efficiencies.

Buy pre-paid 
electricity at 
BotswanaPost
BotswanaPost is one of the super-vendors 
appointed by Botswana Power Corporation to sell 
pre-paid electricity. The BotswanaPost electricity 
distribution model is based on a three pronged 
approach that looks at a foundation of channels 
and partners that are strategic, reliable and 
accessible to the consumer.  

Since inception of the service BotswanaPost has 
been highly successful in availing the service to 
the populace. All the BotswanaPost branches 
sell pre-paid electricity. BotswanaPost has also 
signed agreements with sub-vendors to sell pre-
paid electricity and partnered with SMMEs, retail 
shops, and tuck-shop owners to sell electricity 
using point of sale devices across the country. This 
provides great convenience to people especially 
in rural areas who used to travel long distances 
to access the service at major towns and villages. 
BotswanaPost is in discussions with banks and 
mobile network operators to provide convenient 
“end-user controlled” channels to avail the sale of 
pre-paid electricity.

During the period under review, BotswanaPost was able to 
plan several new initiatives, some of which have already been 
rolled out. Although the groundwork has been laid for many of 
these, we expect them to pay off in future years. As illustration 
of the projects that have been in incubation for a long time, 
we are now an electricity super vendor for Botswana Power 
Corporation, meaning that customers are able to purchase 
electricity vouchers through our branch network. We are also 
a Water Utilities Corporation customer touch point in that 
customers can pay water bills through our post offices.

Additionally, we are a cash redemption point for Botswana Meat 
Commission, allowing farmers to collect their BMC proceeds 
through us.
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We successfully applied for an Internet Service Provider (ISP) 
licence. We will be rolling out our internet services, including 
but not limited to Wi-Fi hotspots, and corporate solutions. In 
line with our strategy to improve access to services, we have 
received Board approval for an insurance product which will be 
launched in the next reporting period. 

The new PosoPay e-portal, launched during the period under 
review, allows customers 24 hour access to services offered in 
the portal. Once fully operational, the online service will enable 
customers to access retail services and products that are 
traditionally offered in post offices such as stamps, P.O Box and 
Private Bag renewals, bill payments and agency services. We 
will continue to aggressively grow this service going forward.

Customer Service
The fastest-growing postal operators in the world are service-
oriented organisations who have moved beyond a traditional 
focus on logistics and mail delivery. Accordingly, we desire 

to be a one-stop service centre, offering both Government 
and private sector services, and leveraging our geographical 
footprint to provide forward and back linkages between society, 
businesses and Government.

We recognise that there is a natural tension between business 
and society. For BotswanaPost, while profit remains critical, 
it is not the only driver of our organisational success. As 
a Government-owned organisation, we also have a social 
obligation to bring marginalised and rural citizens into the 
mainstream economy, and provide access to services. This 
means we continue to provide services to Botswana’s most 
remote villages, even where other businesses find it unprofitable 
to do so.

Perhaps counter-intuitively, this broad reach gives our partners 
a unique advantage, as they are able to gain access to far flung 
areas without increasing their own risk, thanks to ICT-enabled 
post offices. For instance, even customers in remote areas can 
pay bills such as water at our branches, with their accounts 
updated immediately. In this way, we are able to offer greater 
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convenience and peace of mind for our customers. The Post 
Office already disburses social services payments to 150,000 
beneficiaries every month, at over 800 sites including remote 
villages and cattle posts.

Transforming our workforce
Workforce transformation is critical to the successful 
implementation of our modernisation strategy. Without it, we 
cannot realise our vision of a high-performing and competitive 
organisation. We recognise this is a stressful process for staff, 
but it was a necessary one which will secure the BotswanaPost 
future sustainability. We have paid a heavy once-off cost which 
was necessary to bring in the new skills we require to deliver 
on the new strategy. We are building a customer-centric staff 
complement at ease in an ICT-enabled environment.

Sector Regulation
Effective regulation is an important enabler of economic 
growth, regardless of sector. We believe the entire freight and 
logistics industry should receive adequate and transparent 
oversight so as to ensure universal access to services for the 
benefit of consumers. In this environment, BotswanaPost has 
embraced its social mission to deliver to all areas, at rates set 
by Government. However, we face considerable competition 
from multinational brands which can choose the most profitable 
areas for their business, while charging their own tariffs.

A sector regulator would set standards and expectations, to 
the benefit of both customers and service providers, improving 
transparency. We continue to engage with Government on this 
issue.

Financial Performance
We were able to grow revenue for the year by 7% during 
2012/13 to P214 million, compared to overall economic 
performance of around 4.5% for the period.  The modest 
revenue growth albeit below our target was driven by our 
embrace of technology as an enabler of business performance.  
However, this rate was lower than our target of 53% growth, 
required to achieve our 2016 target of P500 million revenue.

Mail Revenue (P91.8m), Merchandise (P35.6m) and Agency 
payments (P39.0m) remain the highest contributors to the 
overall revenue during the 2013 year to date. The overall 
revenue for the year is 30% below 2013 budget. Nevertheless, 

we are confident that we have laid a solid foundation for good 
performance going forward. We have been able to streamline 
operations, reduce our costs, and diversify our product offering, 
as detailed above, in line with market requirements.

During the period, BotswanaPost recorded a loss of P76.3 
million as a result of some significant once-off costs, mainly 
the staff rationalisation process. It was critical for us to take 
this setback in order for us to introduce the efficiencies our 
customers expect. We incurred spending of P50 million on 
this exercise. This was a once-off cost that was necessary 
to upscale our skills levels in order to deliver on the Icon of 
Excellence strategy. In addition, we received a 100 million Pula 
loan facility from Botswana Insurance Fund Management (Bifm) 
to address short-term requirements and facilitate some of the 
major projects underway.

Recognition 
BotswanaPost was awarded a Certificate of Service Excellence 
by the Universal Postal Union Congress held in Doha in 
October, 2012. We have also been honoured with the Universal 
Postal Union Quality Management Certification Silver Award.

We continue to engage with local and regional media and 
have received substantial positive coverage, including from 
international media such as African Business Journal.

I wish to extend my sincere appreciation to all our staff. 
With their help, we will be able to build an efficient, modern 
corporate with a culture of high performance and customer 
excellence – a company that is an Icon of Excellence.

Re a leboga

Pele Moleta - Chief Executive
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Our Values
When we set out on the journey to excellence, one of 
our challenges was the realisation that the culture of our 
organisation and the general disposition of our people needed 
to be aligned to support the strategy.  

The strengthening of the organisation’s leadership was 
another priority this year. Managers and leaders of the various 
departments and teams received coaching and leadership 
development training, equipping them with the necessary 
tools and disposition to enable them to steer the organisation 
to new heights and realise the business’ overarching vision. 

Where We Are
BotswanaPost recognises that the success of our strategy 
hinges on our people, who are a key stakeholder. 

Therefore since the inception of the Journey to Excellence 
strategy, we have been engaged in a consistent communication 
aimed at rallying the employees around the strategy.  During the 
year under review, we adopted the Balanced Scorecard to help 
simplify the strategy for our employees and articulate the link 
between their roles, performance, and contribution towards the 
attainment of our ambitious revenue goal. 
 
Excellence demands that we continuously outdo ourselves 
in our endeavour to become more than just a Post Office. To 
this end, the year under review witnessed the development 
of a Partnership Strategy to guide the process of leveraging 
the strength of our various partners, and therefore enable 
BotswanaPost to reduce the time and investment it would take 
to increase its product and service offering.

Our partners include the Department of Social Services (DSS) 
for which we facilitate payment of monthly social benefit grants 
to beneficiaries across the whole country, Botswana Power 

Strategy Review 

In 2011, we revamped our strategy to translate our vision into a 
better executable plan. This entailed infusing enough emphasis 
in the plan to advance BotswanaPost’s capabilities and beating 
the odds to succeed in becoming a remarkably transformed 
organisation of the future. 

This is a Post Office that not only caters to the  needs of a 
diverse customer landscape and more importantly transforms 
the welfare of Batswana for the better, but is also best 
positioned to meet  the changing demands of the modern 
customer. Our vision was informed by the experiences of high 
performing Postal operators who recognised early on that the 
traditional Post Office business model future was bleak in the 
face of modern communication media innovations.

Thus, this informed our decision to adopt the ambitious goal to 
become a P500 million company with a cash cost to income 
ratio of 60% initially by 2014.  As earlier reported in March 
2013, the Board extendend the target year to 2016 following 
an in-depth review of BotswanaPost’s performance on the 
strategic goals and the  realisation that the targets hitherto had 
not been completely realised. 

Our Mission
Our footprints on the Journey to Excellence continue to affirm 
our reason for being. BotswanaPost’s mission is to provide 
communities with financial, logistics, postal, communications 
and agency services through our network and partnerships with 
the Government and private sector.  This is aptly demonstrated 
by the flag posts we have left along the way and the milestones 
we have reached over the past two years. These include 
the intensified engagement with our partners, resulting in 
BotswanaPost’s delivery of non-traditional products and 
services such as  prepaid electricity, payment services, mobile 
voucher retail, virtual money redemption points and agency 
services. We have also facilitated access to Government 
services such as renewal of motor vehicle licenses throughout 
on point of sale network.

When we envisioned the Journey to Excellence in October of 2009, we 
never imagined the power of the picture that would emerge so strong that 
on a daily basis we witness the beautiful pieces of the mural – that is the 
Post Office of the future, an Icon of Excellence that is connecting people 
to each other and the globe – falling into place.   
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Corporation (BPC) of which we are a major prepaid electricity 
vendor, and the Water Utilities Corporation (WUC) on whose behalf 
we collect payment of utility bills. We also disburse proceeds 
from the sale of farmers’ cattle on behalf of the Botswana Meat 
Commission (BMC). These partnerships have diversified our 
revenue streams and widened our service delivery bouquet.

Our partnerships are further strengthened by our investment in 
ICT platform that has enabled us to interact with our partners 
in real time, thereby improving the efficiency and quality of our 
services. 

During the period under review, BotswanaPost developed 
and implemented a cost accounting tool to enable it to cost 
activities, products and services, and consequently provide 
more informative profitability analyses. We believe this will go 
a long way in assisting us to conduct process reviews and 
optimisation, reduce wastage and improve efficiency across the 
pillars of the business.

In March 2013, we also completed our staff rationalisation 
process which commenced in the second phase of the 
strategy. The process has laid the foundation for attracting and 
retaining an improved skill and talent base, critical in our journey 
to becoming more than just a post office, and for a culture 

change through parallel projects focusing on skills and talent 
development, transformation as well as leadership development 
and strategic awareness. These initiatives are encapsulated in 
our revised Human Resources Strategy.

Challenges on the 
Journey to Excellence 
The Journey to Excellence has not been without challenges. The 
most prominent of these has been the availability of corporate 
funds to finance the business strategy. This was identified as a 
key weakness when the strategy was developed.   

BotswanaPost’s revenue has grown albeit not to requisite levels. 
This has been largely on account of lengthy decision-making 
processes, particularly on the side of the Shareholder. 

In the year end to March 2013, revenue growth was further 
negatively impacted by, among others, delays in the decisions 
to revise tariffs and to grant the BotswanaPost the authority to 
borrow in the open market. This negatively impacted cash flows 
and day-to-day operations. 
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The current state of BotswanaPost’s infrastructure is another 
impediment to revenue growth. This is a major challenge as 
the Post Office’s delivery of a world-class service hinges heavily 
on the environment in which customers are served and on 
building adequate capacity to handle both customer volumes 
and changing customer demands. BotswanaPost’s aged 
infrastructure, which dates back at least five decades, renders it 
far below the current, let alone the future, capacity requirements. 

Only infrastructure deemed in dire state or potentially revenue 
generating, such as Poso House which was refurbished this year, 
has been given priority. Even then, this was done at the expense of 
business growth in the short term. The upgrading of Poso House 
put much strain on the BotswanaPost’s operating cash flows.  

The upgrading of the rest of the infrastructure has been put on 
the back banner. This includes investment in mail infrastructure, 
which was not done this year due to the funding strain generally 
alluded to in this report. However, delivering world class mail 
services continues to be a key priority for us. Improving the mail 
infrastructure has the potential to contribute to an improved 
cost structure as investment in mail sorting equipment, ICT 
and delivery infrastructure capabilities will reduce manual and 
sometimes multiple interventions on the handing of mail. 

Furthermore, the investment will go a long way in enabling us to 
improve the national addressing systems thereby responding to the 
national question on how soon the Post Office can provide home 
deliveries. More importantly, it will also address the national dialogue 
around how national economic sectors can collaborate to ensure 
consistent and efficient address allocation, citizen identification and 
the availability of tracing mechanisms, among others. 

Another major challenge on the journey to excellence this year 
continued to be the cost of the  universal service obligation.
The tension between the post’s commercial mandate and its 
universal service obligation is yet to find relief.  BotswanaPost has 
single-handedly funded universal service access since inception 
– a reality that is not sustainable without funding support from the 
Shareholder.

This obligation has also put tremendous pressure on the 
company’s tariffs as well as the fact that Government continues 
to be sensitive of the need to ensure that ordinary citizens are 
able to afford our services.

The Journey Ahead 
The onset of BOCRA as a Regulator of the Post Office and the 
attendant market reform provides hope for resolution through 
the development and implementation of an appropriate universal 
access policy and funding model. Furthermore, development 
of an accounting tool that separates the bookkeeping of 
universal service costs from the commercial ones will ensure the 
appropriate funding of the former and therefore reduce the cost 
and funding burden. 

In November 2009, Cabinet directed that BotswanaPost and 
Botswana Savings Bank merge. This would create a new and 
alternative revenue stream for the organisation and help bolster 
the business.  In the same breadth, BotswanaPost would be 
able to deliver a key service to the majority of citizens, which is 
to bank the unbanked. The delay of the merger however has 
meant a deferral of these opportunities. In the interim, at least 
four new banks and an ICT-based banking media have entered 
the market, resultantly eroding the erstwhile envisaged benefits 
out of the merger.” 

The delays notwithstanding, the Post Office is still upbeat over 
the impending changes in the business structure which can only 
serve to propel faster the journey to the Icon of Excellence.  

BotswanaPost’s strategic thrust will therefore continue on 
three key themes, those of growth, service excellence and 
operational efficiency.

Strategy Review
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 RISK CONTRIBUTING FACTORS OBJECTIVES TO MITIGATE

 I L IR

1 Risk of inadequate 
cash flow/failure to 
access funding (capital) 
resulting in a threat to 
going concern.

 5  5 20 1. No willing lenders due to credit 
risk

2. Failure to diversify/generate 
more revenue

3. Uncontrolled non-productive 
expenditure

4. Inappropriate Investment or 
Borrowing Decisions

- Cashflow  Management

- Seek new revenue avenues

- Continuous engagement 
with the Shareholder

2 There is a risk of 
Reputational Loss/
Damage/Impairment.

 4  5 20 1. Attitudes, behaviours & actions 
of stakeholders

2. Products/Sevices probity & 
delivery

- Constant engagement with 
all stakeholders to ensure 
common expectations.

3 Risk of loss of funds.  4  5 20 1. Robberies & other crime

2. Staff theft

3. Defalcations  & Accounting 
irregularities

- Continuous enhancement of 
security at post officess

- Increased spot-checks

4 There is a risk that 
objectives and strategies 
are not aligned to Vision 
which will result in 
failure to achieve vision.

 4  2 20 1. Absence of goal congruence/ 
dysfunctional behaviour 
(interdepartmental competition)

2. Lack of resources capacity/skills

3. Laxity

4. Inappropriate implementation

- Corporate strategy review 
has been carried out to 
eliminate any misalignment.

5 Inadequate Business 
Continuity Management

 5  4 20 1. Inadequate Market 
understanding

2. Lack of Business continuity 
strategy

- Implement a business 
continuity plan.

6 Risk of failure to 
transform the workforce.

 4 4 16 1. Lack of stakeholder resolve (Use 
of inappropriate processes)

2. Resistance to change

- Implementation of the 
change management plan.

- Continuous communication 
to re-enforce values.

7 Risk of failure to execute 
strategy resulting in 
failure to achieve the 
objectives.

 5  3 15 1. Inadequate resources (skills & 
capacity)

2. Inappropriate structures

3. Lack of direction & guidance 
(poor leadership)

- Continuous strategy review

- Cascading the Balanced 
Scorecard to ensure 
understanding of strategy 
requirements.

8 Unsecure IT systems 5 3 15 1. Insufficient IT Security 
management

- Increased security 
requirements

- USB lockdown

9 Technology disruptions 
to operations

5 3 15 1. Inadequate IT skills
2. Inconsistent network services 

from supplier. 
3. Poor network and availability of 

bandwidth.

- Upgrade of bandwidth and 
replacement of existing 
ADSL with MPLS over radio.

RISK LOG 2013
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Human Resources

Creating a healthy environment for employees
Recognising the importance of an engaged workforce for future growth, 
BotswanaPost is pursuing a new Human Resources strategy termed 
‘Journey to Excellence, People Roadmap’ to drive business performance.   

The people roadmap is anchored on five strategic pillars which 
have been identified to enable BotswanaPost to transform into 
a high performance organisation that is better poised to service 
its customers and possess the agility to respond to changes in 
the market quicker. Those pillars are:

• Talent attraction and retention 
• Revamp of business processes and policies
• Talent development and management
• Performance management, and 
• Recognition and reward.

Dramatic changes in BotswanaPost’s operating environment 
caused by advancements in information and communication 
technology (ICT) have necessitated that the Post Office 
transform if it is to continue delivering on its mandate. 

Consequently, BotswanaPost has focused on streamlining its 
operations during the period under review with an emphasis on 
improving efficiency and service delivery, while optimising the 
organisation’s human resources.

Unfortunately, this also meant that BotswanaPost had to 
rationalise its workforce in 2013 to allow for the recruitment of 
identified essential skills critical to the future of the business and 
its sustainability. 

BotswanaPost has then released 40% of the workforce 
on a voluntary and non-voluntary basis, equivalent to 354 
employees. In line with our values of Botho, proper consultation 
and human resources procedures were followed and affected 
employees were given adequate support throughout the difficult 
process. As a result of the manner in which the rationalisation 
was handled, BotswanaPost is one of the few companies 
if not the only one to release a high number of staff without 
experiencing industrial action or labour disputes in 2013 despite 
the magnitude of the staff rationalisation process undertaken. 
The benefits of the process include the elimination of role 
duplication and staff under-utilisation at many levels across the 
organisation, as well as a reduction in wasteful expenditure. 

Becoming an Employer of Choice
Talent attraction and retention remains a critical priority for 
BotswanaPost. During the staff rationalisation process, emphasis 
was placed on retaining top talent across the organisation’s skills 

value chain. Since then, BotswanaPost has introduced a number 
of initiatives and programmes to bolster its talent to ensure that 
the organisation delivers on its mandate, continues to operate 
successfully and sustainably, and becomes an Icon of Excellence. 

We participated in the Best Company To Work for Survey by 
Deloitte, during this period, to gauge the level at which our 
employees are engaged. This is because BotswanaPost believes 
in creating a healthy environment for its employees where people 
are encouraged to explore their talents and potential. 

Talent attraction 
and retention 
programmes
The following initiatives were put in place for the attraction 
and retention of talent during the 2012/2013 financial year.

Onboarding-right start: BotswanaPost has refined 
its induction process to ensure that employees get a 
right start in the organisation. As part of induction all 
new employees undergo Investment in Excellence 
training which is a program that is aimed at transforming 
individuals to realise their potential through mindset 
change. This program has also been extended to all staff.

Remuneration and Reward: During the period under 
review we revamped our remuneration and reward policy 
in order to ensure that we are able to be competitive in our 
pursuit to attract and retain the best talent in the market. We 
also defined our reward philosophy and shared it with staff.  

Leadership Development: We recognise the integral role 
that the  leadership of  an organisation plays in building a 
high performance culture to this end a leadership culture 
survey was conducted during the 2012/13 year. The 
survey was aimed at identifying the development areas for 
Executive and Middle management in an effort to assist 
them grow. The survey was followed up with targeted 
coaching sessions for each EXCO member and  this will 
be extended to middle managers.
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Creating a high performance 
organisation
At BotswanaPost we recognise that the success of the 
organisation’s transformation strategy hinges on the calibre and 
cooperation of our people, who are a key stakeholder. 

This is why we have focused on consistent staff communication, 
since the inception of the Journey to Excellence strategy, to rally 
employee support around the strategy.  

We have adopted the Balanced Scorecard to link the strategy to 
employees’ duties and contribution. In 2013, the new Conditions 
of Service were adopted to replace the ones which have been 
in place since 2008. These are now linked to performance 
management, learning and development processes, in order to 
develop a culture of continuous improvement.

This journey brings with it many changes that, if not managed, 
may generate impediments that can undermine the intended 
outcomes. To assist the organisation in managing the changes 
that come with the myriad of improvement initiatives, we have 
adopted a Change Management Strategy and Plan. This 
Strategy is being driven by a team of Change Champions, 
including representatives from all corporate departments.

In order to invigorate the values of Botho, Integrity, Courage, 
Innovation and Service Excellence, BotswanaPost has rolled out 
the Investment in Excellence programme aimed at helping our 
employees understand themselves better, realise their potential, 
and become the next level of business leaders. Employees assist 
one another on this journey and receive feedback periodically. 
By the end of March 2013, more than 100 employees had 
completed the programme. The process is ongoing.  

We have altered how we measure performance. Since the 
implementation of the new HR strategy, employees’ performance 
is measured by not only the tangible deliverables but also the 
manner in which they uphold the values of BotswanaPost. 

We introduced a leadership programme to strengthen our 
management team’s competency, galvanise them as leaders and 
further empower them to deliver on the Group’s strategy. The 
union representatives were also trained in areas such as industrial 
relations, and disciplinary and grievance procedures.

Focus for 2014 financial year
In line with our Human Resources strategy, we intend to 
focus on recruiting and building relevant skills, developing and 
managing talent, career path, and driving productivity.
BotswanaPost intends on becoming a highly efficient 
organisation that delivers world-class customer service to the 
people of Botswana and delivers value to all of its stakeholders. 
BotswanaPost encourages its people to be actively engaged 
in implementing the Icon of Excellence strategy. Employee 
engagement is a critical element of our Human Resources 
strategy as it cuts across all five strategic pillars.
 
Our approach is supported by numerous studies that reveal a 
correlation between high employee engagement and increases 
in productivity – essential ingredients for a high-performing 
organisation. We are confident that with the energy that has been 
infused, we will hold hands and work diligently towards our goals.
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Factors behind this modest growth include Botswana’s tough 
economic climate over the past financial years, emergence of 
substitutes to postal products which resulted in the reduced 
sales volumes in line with global trends, BotswanaPost’s 
continued mandate to provide postal services to marginalised 
and remote parts of the country which has had a substantial 
impact on our margins. This was further compounded by the 
fact that a significant proportion of revenue generating initiatives 
introduced as part of our diversification strategy had not 
reached maturity during the current financial year. The positive 
impact of these initiatives is expected to be experienced in the 
ensuing financial years.

Profit and Margins
The overall loss for the current year stood at P76,6m resulting 
in a cumulative negative position on retained earnings of 
P54,6m. The major contributor to the noted loss was the staff 
rationalisation process which was carried out at a cost of 
P50 million. It has emerged that during the earlier years of the 
turnaround strategy, costs would be higher on account of the 
myriad of improvement initiatives consequently resulting in a 
negative bottom line.

Financial Review 

Financial Performance
BotswanaPost’s mail services continue to be the core of our 
business. However, we have not ignored the persisting decline 
in mail volumes, which is a trend postal services providers 
around the world are experiencing, therefore our revenue 
diversification strategy. 

Agency services contributed P75.6 million to the total revenue 
for the year. These services relate to income generated 
from BotswanaPost’s partnerships which are intended to 
ensure accessibility of essential services and convenience 
for the citizens of Botswana regardless of their geographical 
locations. The current year income was slightly lower than the 
P79.8 million reported in 2011/2012 because of the impact 
of intermittent load shedding on the agency systems that are 
driven by BotswanaPost’s technology platform.

In line with our audacious goal to become a P500 million 
revenue company with a cash cost  to income ratio of 60% by 
2016, BotswanaPost had envisaged generating revenue growth 
of close to 200% from 2010/2011 to the current year under 
review  however made a cumulative growth of 26%. While this 
is lower than envisaged, it is in line with our expectations. 

BotswanaPost reported revenue growth of 7% to P214 million for 
the year ended 31 March 2013. Revenue growth was driven from 
both traditional products mainly bulk mail and mail services, which 
contributed P42.6 million and P38 million respectively and new 
products and services. 
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Cash Flow
Cash generated from operating activities was P13 million 
(2012: P5.6 million), being an increase of P7.4 million from 
the cash generated in the previous year. The overall cash and 
cash equivalents increased significantly to P71 million (2012: 
P7.3 million) attributable to government grants and external 
funding received during the year.

Managing Costs
Improving the cost structure was one of the key areas of focus 
during the current year towards achieving the strategic goal of 
attaining a cash cost to income ratio of 60% by 2016. 

A number of cost containment initiatives were adopted during the 
year targeting communications, travel and other administration 
costs. Furthermore in order to optimise on the transport logistics 
and leverage on common resources a decision was taken to 
outsource the transport section to Botswana Couriers. This move 
is envisaged to reduce the number and cost of vehicles servicing 
the routes serviced by both companies. 

BotswanaPost invested in a cost accounting tool that 
enables the costing of activities, products and services, and 
consequently profitability analysis by the Post Office.
This tool will facilitate separation and monitoring of accounting 
for BotswanaPost’s commercial and universal services.  

Administrative costs were P123 million (P99m: 2011/2012). The 
noted increase is attributable chiefly to increases in, provisions 
for doubtful debts of P6,5m which consists mainly of long 
outstanding invoices for government departments, repairs and 
maintenance of P3.2m and subscriptions and licences P2.1m. 
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BotswanaPost has a holistic view of sustainability, which 
encompasses not only business sustainability, risk management and 
environmental management, but also Corporate Social Responsibility. 

Environmental management
BotswanaPost also aims to promote a culture of environmental 
awareness, both within the organisation and throughout the 
country as a whole. Internally, environmental awareness initiatives 
are aimed at promoting an optimal utilisation of resources, 
reducing waste and achieving related cost savings. 

On a broader canvas, the planned workplace audit will enable 
the organisation to measure its contribution to global warming, 
and to put measures in place to limit its environmental impact. 

Corporate Social Responsibility
In line with BotswanaPost’s Icon of Excellence strategy, the 
organisation has established the BotswanaPost Foundation 
as a vehicle for the implementation of its Corporate Social 
Responsibility programme. The Foundation’s mandate is 
to uplift the lives of people in the communities in which the 
organisation operates, with a specific focus on education, 
Information and Communications Technology (ICT), youth 
empowerment, arts and culture, the environment, and 
community development.

Sustainability Review

Business sustainability
Business sustainability depends on both continuous improvement 
at operational level and customer service excellence. Plans for 
change and development in these areas of the organisation are 
covered in the Strategy Review section of this report. 

Risk management
From a risk management perspective, BotswanaPost has 
budgeted for the appointment of a Safety, Health and 
Environment Manager to service the organisation in all aspects 
of workplace safety, employee wellness and environmental 
management. The organisation is also currently developing a 
framework to guide all aspects of delivery in these areas, and 
an upcoming workplace audit is intended to identify gaps in 
delivery so that these can be effectively addressed.
BotswanaPost’s aim is to develop and entrench a culture 
of safety and wellness in order to support its growth and 
performance objectives. In line with this, training and simulation 
exercises are already helping to prevent accidents and injuries, 
and are having a positive impact on employee productivity.
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During the 2013 financial year, the Foundation undertook a 
number of inaugural projects in Kacgae village in the Gantsi 
District. These included the donation of a fully equipped computer 
laboratory with Wi-Fi connectivity and a library to the local school, 
as well as the sponsorship of a fully irrigated food garden. 

The aim of these projects and initiatives is to create a healthy 
and conducive learning environment for the children in the area.
Schools in rural areas face a number of challenges, including 
poor academic performance and a high dropout rate. In an 
attempt to address these challenges, the BotswanaPost 
Foundation has also committed to sponsoring a performance 
reward programme over a period of three years. This is 
intended to encourage pupils to work hard and to reward them 
for their efforts. 

Of course, good education does not happen in a vacuum, 
so the Foundation has also set up a Postal Agency in 
Kacgae, which will be run by the community through a Village 
Development Committee. As the village is some 100 kilometres 
from the nearest post office, this will considerably enhance 
access to communication for the local people. 

As part of its commitment to caring for the environment, the 
Foundation has also erected 11 waste bins throughout the 
village to reduce littering and to make it easier for the local 
council to collect garbage.

Apart from the work through its Foundation, BotswanaPost 
also undertakes a number of ad hoc Corporate Social 
Responsibility projects every year. In 2011, for instance, it 
adopted all of the trees that had traditionally been used as 
mail receiving and dispatch zones in earlier times. These 
included the Mopenwaeng tree situated at the Main Kgotla in 
Molepolole village which was used as a post office during the 
Second World War era. The tree was later declared a national 
monument, and is protected under the Monuments and Relics 
Act. 

The monument was formally handed over to the local 
community in January 2013. 

These and other similar initiatives demonstrate BotswanaPost’s 
strong commitment to sustainability in all aspects of its business, 
as well as in its role as a responsible corporate citizen.
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Hybrid mail boosts BotswanaPost
The Hybrid function deals with printing and mail production. It entails template design 
for bills, statements and letters, formatting and processing, printing, sorting, folding 
and enveloping of mail. This mail is then handed over to Mail Operations for processing 
through the sorter. 

The Hybrid Mail revenue performance 
in 2012/13 was P8.3 million 
compared to P6.1 million for 2011/12 
a revenue growth rate of P2.2 million 
(25%). This revenue growth was due 
to an upsurge in sales and marketing 
drive despite the economic decline. 

Governace  
Corporate Governance Report 36
Board of Directors 40
Management Team 42
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During the financial year 
the following members were on the Board:

Mr. Motsomi Martin Makgatlhe - Chairperson
Mr. Polokoetsile Pedro Motau - Vice Chairperson
Mrs. Coleen Motswaisoi - Member
Mrs. Hilda Dipopo Mocuminyane-Rabashwa - Member
Ms. Ntoti Mosetlhe - Member
Mr. Nathan Monametse Kgabi - Resigned
Dr. Alinah Segobye - Resigned
Mr. Keolebogile Pele Moleta - Ex-Officio member

Board Meetings
The Board meets at least four times a year.  The role of the Board 
is to set strategic direction, development of key policies, approval 
of budgets and monitoring and implementation of the approved 
strategic direction through periodic reporting by Executive 
Management.  During the year, the Board met six times.

Board Remuneration
The Board is remunerated at rates prescribed by the 
Government of Botswana from time to time. During the year, 
the remuneration rates were as follows:

Board Chairman - P1,050 per sitting
Vice Chairman - P950 per sitting
Directors  - P840 per sitting

Board Committees
In terms of the Board Charter the Board may delegate any of 
its powers to committees as it may deem fit. In light of this, 
three Board Committees have been set up, namely Finance 
and Audit, Tender, and Human Resources. The Board has 
delegated some of its powers to these designated Committees.  
Such delegated authority is expressed and where it has not 
been expressed, the Committees recommend the final decision 

Corporate Governance

As a state owned commercial enterprise BotswanaPost 
is accountable to the Government as the Shareholder.  
The Government, through the Minister of Transport and 
Communications, appoints a Board which provides 
strategic direction to Management. The Board is also 
responsible for ensuring compliance with all relevant laws, 
regulations and codes of business practice. It has therefore 
committed itself to the highest standards of corporate 
governance through a Board Charter, guided by the King III 
Code on Corporate Governance.

Group Structure
Botswana Postal Services wholly owns, Botswana Couriers 
(Pty) Ltd and the two entities form the BotswanaPost Group. 
Strategy and Policy direction are set at parent organisation level 
and the subsidiary develops its own strategy and governance 
framework in line with the group structure.  Where policy 
developed is applicable to the whole group, the subject policy 
includes express provisions to that effect. 

Board Structure and Composition
The appointment of the Board by the Minister is in accordance 
with the Botswana Postal Services Act, and comprises of 
eight non-executive Directors, including the Chairman and 
one ex-officio Director, the Director General.  In appointing the 
Directors, the Minister takes into account the balance of skills, 
experience, professional and industry knowledge necessary 
to realise the corporate mandate of operating and managing 
postal services along commercial lines.

Directors are appointed for a period not exceeding four years 
while the Chairman is appointed for a three year term.  In 
determining the Directors’ tenure, the Minister ensures that the 
tenure of not more than one third of the members expire in any 
one year.  This is aimed at ensuring business continuity and 
preservation of corporate memory.

Botswana Postal Services trading as BotswanaPost is a commercial 
organisation of the Government of Botswana, which status was conferred  
by the Botswana Postal Services Act 1989. The Act was recently 
amended by the Transition Bill that paves way for registration of the Post 
as a company.
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to the Board.  This however does not transfer any of the 
responsibilities of the Board to the respective Committees. The 
Board remains ultimately accountable and responsible to the 
Shareholder for the performance and affairs of BotswanaPost.

Finance and Audit Committee
The function of the Committee is to assist the Board in the 
evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal 
control systems, accounting principles, risk management and 
auditing processes applied in the day to day management of the 
business.  It comprises of a total of four non- executive Directors.

During the financial year, the following members were on the 
Committee:

Mr P.P Motau - Chairperson
Dr. A. Segobye - Member
Mr. N. Kgabi  - Member (until 16/01/2013)
Mrs. C. Motswaiso - Member

Tender Committee
The responsibility of the Tender Committee is to ensure that all 
tenders are addressed in a transparent and procedural manner, 
in order to enhance an effective control environment in the 
procurement processes of the Organisation. The Committee has 
delegated financial authority that is reviewed from time to time.

During the financial year, the following members were on the 
Committee

Mr. N. Kgabi - Chairperson (until 16/01/2013)
Mrs. H. M. Rabashwa - Member 
Mr. P. Motau   - Member

Human Resources Committee
This Committee serves to create Organisational structures, 
culture, policies and processes that support development and 
optimisation of the potential of employees. It is also responsible 
for ensuring that employee recruitment and remuneration are 
aligned to the business strategy.  

During the year, the following non-executive Directors were on 
the Committee:

Mrs. N. Mosetlhe -  Chairperson (elected 09 August 2012)
Mrs. H. M. Rabashwa  - Member (from August 2011)
Dr. A. Segobye -  Member
Mrs. C. Motswaiso  - Member (from  01 September 2012)

Compliance
In terms of section 22(1) of the BPS Act, the Board shall within 
six (6) months of the end of the financial year, or within such 
longer period as the Minister may approve, submit the annual 
report. This report was submitted outside the six (6) month 
period with the consent/approval of the Minister.

Code of Ethics
The draft Code was considered by the Board and it is pending 
finalisation and formal adoption. The code is intended to 
ensure the Board’s commitment in bringing the highest level 
of integrity in corporate decisions and in the way in which the 
BotswanaPost Group conducts its business all round.

Internal Audit
The organisation continues to subscribe to best practices of 
Internal Audit practices. The implementation of the Internal 
Audit Charter adopted assists in ensuring the independence of 
the Internal Auditor. The reporting lines are clearly defined and 
provide for direct access to the Chairperson of the Finance and 
Audit Committee and the Board.

Risk Management
Enterprise Risk Management system is being used in order to 
ensure coordination of activities and assist in determining the 
effectiveness and adequacy of controls.  The Corporate risk 
profile that was developed in the past financial year was also 
reviewed in order to incorporate Information Technology (IT) 
risks in line with the reviewed organisational strategy.
 
The organisation intends to focus more on aligning operational 
risks to strategic risks in the next financial year. The cascading 
of risk management will raise organisation’s risk awareness 
on how risks identified link with strategy and any mitigation 
measures including existing internal controls.

Going Concern 
The Board has considered the position of BotswanaPost and 
is of the opinion that the organisation shall be a going concern 
in the 2013/14 financial year. The Government of the Republic 
of Botswana, as the shareholder of the Post, has committed 
in writing to provide the necessary financial support to the 
Post to ensure it continues as a going concern.  The Board 
believes that the Post will receive on-going support from 
the Government as disclosed in Note 25 of these financial 
Statements.

Corporate Governance
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Board and Board Committee Meeting Attendance
The Directors attended scheduled Board and Committees meetings.  Where they could not attend, due explanation was given to 
the Board Chairperson and/or Committee Chairpersons accordingly.

Name Board Finance And Human Resources Tender    
  Audit Committee Committee Committee

 Meetings Attended Meetings Attended Meetings Attended Meetings Attended

M. M. Makgatlhe 6/6                                                 
P. P. Motau 5/6 8/8  1/2
N. Kgabi   3/6 4/8  2/2
Until 31/3/13
H. Rabashwa  5/6    7/7                             2/2
A. S. Segobye 4/6 3/8                     2/7
Until 31/3/13                                             
N. Mosetlhe 4/6                                          7/7                                            
C. Motswaiso 3/5 4/4 2/2 
Appointed August 2012                    
K. P. Moleta 6/6       
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Corporate Governance

Board of Directors

1 From left:

Hilda Mocuminyane-Rabashwa
Board Member

1

Martin Makgatlhe
Chairman

Polokoetsile P. Motau
Vice Chairman
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2 From left:

Pele Moleta
Chief Executive/Ex-Officio

2

Coleen Motswaiso
Board Member

Ntoti Mosetlhe
Board Member
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Executive Management
1

2
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1 From left:

Peter Meswele
Chief Transformation and Change Agent

Cornelius Ramatlhakwane
Head of Business Development

Ogone Gaboutloeloe
Head of Government, Regulatory and International Affairs

Kabelo Ntobedzi
Head of Retail

Seated from left:

Kamogelo Chiusiwa
Head of Human Resources

Pele Moleta
Chief Executive

2 From left:

Thato Kewakae
Chief Information Officer (seated)

Setshedi Botlhole-Mmopi
Head of Mail Services

Booster Nkomba
Head of Property and Administration

3 From left:

Dzuke Baliki
Company Secretary and Legal Counsel

Lebogang Bok
Head of Communications

Ruth Mpathi (seated)
Head of Strategy and Corporate Governance

4 From Left:

Yame Nkgowe
Head of Customer Services

Kutlwano Mswela
Chief Financial Officer

3

4
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Philately
The stamp is often referred to as a paper ambassador of a country of origin. This is so 
because stamps reach every corner of the world carrying images and information about 
the people, culture flora and fauna from which it originates.

The post office and stamps are one of the oldest institutions in Botswana, the latter 
having been around since 1886 when the first British Bechunaland stamps we printed.

Stamps are valuable and a sought after treasure. The history of stamps and some of the 
collections can be viewed at the Philately Museum located at Poso House in Gaborone.
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Botswana Postal Services

GENERAL INFORMATION
31 March 2013

BOTSWANA POSTAL SERVICES was incorporated in Botswana 
in terms of the Botswana Postal Services Act No 22 of 1989
– Laws of Botswana CAP 72:01

Members of the Board
Mr. Motsomi Martin Makgatlhe - Chairman
Mr. Polokoetsile Pedro Motau - Vice Chairman
Mrs. Coleen Motswaisoi - Member
Mrs. Hilda Dipopo Mocuminyane-Rabashwa - Member
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Bankers
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Auditor
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Botswana Postal Services

RESPONSIBILITY FOR AND APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Board of Management is responsible for the annual financial statements and all other information presented therewith. Its 
responsibility includes the maintenance of true and fair financial records and the preparation of annual financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and provisions of the Botswana Postal Services Act. 

The Auditor General has the responsibility to give an independent opinion on the reasonableness of the annual financial statements 
based on the audit of the affairs of the organisation. The Board’s Finance and Audit Committee which consists of four non-executive 
members of the Board and the Chief Executive met with senior management as well as the external auditors as and when it deemed 
necessary to evaluate matters concerning accounting, internal control, auditing and financial reporting. 

At its meeting held on 20 January 2014, the Board supported by the Finance and Audit Committee satisfied itself that Management 
introduced and maintained adequate internal controls to ensure that dependable records exist for the preparation of the financial 
statements, safeguard assets of the organisation and to ensure that all transactions are duly authorised. 

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, since Members of the Board have every reason to believe 
that the organisation has adequate resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future. Against this background, the 
Members of the Board accept responsibility for the financial statements on pages 5 to 32 for the year ended 31 March 2013 which 
were approved on 20th January 2014 and signed on their behalf by: 

___________________                                  _____________________                                ________________
M.M. Makgatlhe                                         P.P. Motau                                         K.P. Moleta
Chairman                                                     Finance & Audit Committee Chairman           Chief Executive

Date: 20th January 2014
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Botswana Postal Services

TELEPHONE: (+267) 3617100/3951050  OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL
FAX: (+267) 3908582/3188145  PRIVATE BAG 0010
FARM FOREST HILL, NO.9   GABORONE
LOT 134, MILLENNIUM PARK   BOTSWANA
KGALE HILL         
Website:  oag@gov.bw                                              
Email: www.oag.org.bw 

AUDIT REPORT OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL
TO THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF BOTSWANA POSTAL SERVICES

I have completed the audit of the financial statements of the Botswana Postal Services, set out on pages 5 to 32 for the year ended 
31 March 2013, which comprises the statement of financial position as at 31st March 2013, the statements of comprehensive 
income, cash flows and changes in equity for the year then ended in terms of Section 21 (2) and (3), of the Botswana Postal Services 
Act (No 22 of 1989). 

Members of the Board’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

The Members of the Botswana Postal Services Board of management are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 
these financial statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards; and in compliance with the Botswana 
Postal Services Act (No 22 of 1989). The responsibility includes: 
• Designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation  of financial    
 statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 
• Selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and 
• Making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on the audit conducted. I conducted the audit in 
accordance with the International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement; and 
whether they were prepared in all material respects, in accordance with an applicable reporting framework. 

An audit includes an examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An 
audit also includes an evaluation of the appropriateness of the accounting principles, assessment of the reasonableness of the 
accounting estimates made by management, as the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

I have examined the books, accounts and vouchers of Botswana Postal Services to the extent I considered necessary. I believe that 
the audit procedures used and the evidence obtained are sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for the opinion given below.

REPUBLIC OF BOTSWANA
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Botswana Postal Services

Opinion

In my opinion, the Financial Statements of Botswana Postal Services for the year ended 31st March 2013, present fairly in all material 
respects, the financial position of the organisation as at 31 March 2013, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards.

Emphasis of Matter

Without qualifying my opinion, I draw the attention to the financial statements which indicate that the Group and the Post Incurred 
a total comprehensive loss of P76, 111, 306.00 and P76, 294,162.00 respectively (2012: P4,379,792.00 and P3,570,471.00 
respectively) and have net current liabilities of P5, 947, 478 and P2, 713, 880 respectively.  The Government of the Republic of 
Botswana, as the shareholder of the Post, has committed in writing to provide the necessary financial support to the Post to ensure 
it continues as a going concern.  The Board believes that the Post will receive on-going support from the Government as disclosed 
in Note 25 of these financial Statements.   

Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with Section 21 of the Botswana Postal Services Act (CAP 72:01) I confirm that:
• Botswana Postal Services has kept proper books of account, with which the financial statements are in  agreement; 
• I received all the information and explanations which to the best of my knowledge and belief, were  necessary for the     
 performance of my audit duties; 
• The financial statements were prepared on a basis consistent with that used in the previous financial year 
 and therefore represent a fair view of the Postal Services’ transactions and its financial affairs as at 31  March 2012; and
• Botswana Postal Services has complied with the financial provisions of the Botswana Postal Services  ACT, (CAP 72:01) except  
 to the matter referred below. 

The Botswana Postal Services has not met some of the requirements of Section 17 of the Botswana Postal Services Act (Cap 72:01) 
which requires It to conduct it’s affairs on sound commercial lines and ensure that Its revenues are sufficient to produce on the fair 
value of its assets a reasonable rate of return as disclosed in Note 26 of these financial Statements.  The Group and the Post incurred 
a total comprehensive loss of P76, 11, 306.00 and P76, 294,162.00 respectively (2012: P4, 379, 792.00 and P3, 570, 471.00 
respectively).   

R.B. Sebopeng
AUDITOR GENERAL

Date: 22nd February 2014
Gaborone
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Statement of Comprehensive Income

                   GROUP              CORPORATION
  2013  2012  2013  2012
 Note  P   P   P   P 

Revenue 2  233,983,565   216,545,889   214,178,291   199,581,721 
        
Cost of Sales 3  (118,332,845 )  (109,417,538 )  (111,706,949 )  (103,680,922 ) 
     
Gross profit    115,650,720   107,128,351   102,471,342   95,900,799 
        
Other income 4  10,192,788   10,674,355   9,912,945   10,552,169 
        
Administrative expenses 5  (135,711,454 )  (110,165,468 )  (123,445,275 )  (99,148,170 )
        
Other operating expenses 6  (1,001,615 ) (303,557 )  (1,001,615 )  (303,557 ) 
       
Operating profit/(loss)   (10,869,561 )  7,333,681   (12,062,603 )  7,001,241   
      
Finance cost 7  (15,821,646)   (9,926,645)   (14,728,043)   (8,837,515)
         
Finance income 8  359,637   564,054   359,637   561,997 
         
Restructuring Costs   (50,135,636 )  (2,319,714 )  (50,135,636 )  (2,319,714 )
         
Loss before taxation   (76,467,207 )  (4,348,624 )  (76,566,645 )  (3,593,991 )
        
Taxation 19  83,418  (143,815 )  -     -   
    
Loss for the year   (76,383,789 )  (4,492,439 )  (76,566,645 )  (3,593,991 ) 
       
Other comprehensive income:        
Gains and losses on property, plant and equipment
revaluations   272,483  137,786   272,483   23,520 
Taxation related to components of other comprehensive
income   -     (25,139 )  -     -   
          
      
Other comprehensive income for the year net of taxation   272,483   112,647   272,483   23,520    
        
Loss for the year   (76,111,306 )  (4,379,792 )  (76,294,162 )  (3,570,471 )

For the year ended 31 March 2013
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Statement of Financial Position  

                   GROUP              CORPORATION
  2013  2012  2013  2012
 Note  P   P   P   P 

ASSETS         
Non current assets         
Property, Plant and Equipment   9   305,299,050  288,586,818   293,496,724   275,161,408 
Intangible assets   10   31,313,809   231,788   31,291,798   198,788 
Investment in subsidiary   24   -    -     2,558,280   2,558,280 
Loan to Botswana Couriers  22  -     -     1,672,000   1,672,000 
        
   336,612,859   288,818,606   329,018,803   279,590,476 
        
Current  Assets         
Inventories   11   7,733,017   4,016,002   7,733,017   4,016,002 
Trade  and  other  receivables   12   68,352,017   50,588,960   65,396,226   49,009,674 
Cash  and short term deposits   13   71,377,706   7,687,529   71,354,812   7,680,640 
        
   147,462,740   62,292,491   144,484,055   60,706,316 
        
TOTAL ASSETS    484,075,599   351,111,097   473,502,858   340,296,792   
          
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES         
Equity         
Stated capital   14   38,431,729   38,431,729   38,431,729   38,431,729 
Revaluation reserve   14   113,775,796   104,000,177  113,496,621   103,721,002 
Other capital reserves   14   199,761   199,761   199,761   199,761 
Retained earnings    (56,327,789 )  19,783,517   (54,609,798 )  21,684,363 
        
   96,079,497   162,415,184   97,518,313   164,036,855 
        
Non  current  liabilities         
Interest  bearing loans and borrowings   15   143,318,145   46,758,550   138,476,881   41,537,758 
Government grants   16   85,076,345   59,602,688   85,076,345   59,602,688 
Finance lease obligation   18   6,149,817   5,608,696   5,233,375   4,954,775 
Deferred tax liability   19   41,577   124,995   -     -   
        
   234,585,884   112,094,929   228,786,601   106,095,221 
        
Current liabilites         
Finance lease obligation   18   8,111,452   7,780,602   7,196,687   6,289,670 
Trade  and  other  payables   17   136,819,917   61,025,865   132,390,459   56,848,009 
Interest  bearing loans and borrowings   15   3,540,921   2,907,795   3,084,458   2,500,697 
Government grants   16   4,526,340  4,526,340   4,526,340   4,526,340 
Bank overdraft   13   411,588   360,382   -     -   
        
   153,410,218   76,600,984   147,197,944   70,164,716 
        
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    484,075,599   351,111,097   473,502,858   340,296,792 
        

As at 31 March 2013
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Statement of Cashflows

                   GROUP              CORPORATION
  2013  2012  2013  2012
 Note  P   P   P   P 

Cash flows from operating activities        
Cash generated from operating activities :   20 13,127,225   5,627,443  11,616,979   2,343,298 
Taxation Paid   (3,390 )  (2,305 )  -     -   

        
Net cash from operating activities   13,123,835   5,625,138   11,616,979   2,343,298 
        
Investing activities        
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment   785,926   303,466   785,925   135,885 
Purchase of property and equipment   (63,088,470 )  (54,503,912 )  (63,068,828 )  (51,456,455 )
Finance income   359,637  564,054  359,637   561,997 
        
Net cash flows from investing activities   (61,942,907 )  (53,636,392 )  (61,923,265 )  (50,758,573 )
        
Financing activities        
Loan Financing   97,232,091  15,431,706  97,562,255   15,803,212 
Receipt of government grant   30,000,000  20,000,000   30,000,000   20,000,000 
Repayment of Borrowings   (39,370 )  (42,582 )  (39,370 )  (42,582 )
Finance lease payments   871,972   (1,207,400 )  1,185,617   (1,544,708)
Finance cost   (15,606,650 )  (9,818,930 )  (14,728,043 )  (8,837,515 )
        
Net cash flows from financing activities   112,458,043  24,362,794   113,980,458   25,378,407 
        
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   63,638,971   (23,648,460 )  63,674,172   (23,036,868 )
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year   7,327,147   30,975,607   7,680,640   30,717,508 
        
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year   70,966,118   7,327,147   71,354,812   7,680,640 

For the year ended 31 March 2013
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2013

GROUP        
 Stated share Other capital  Revaluation  Retained 
 capital reserves  Reserve  earnings           Total
 P P  P  P  P
         
Restated Balance as at 31 March 2011  38,431,729   199,761  104,004,190   24,163,309   166,798,989 
         
Revaluation adjustments  -     -    108,634   -     108,634 
         
Loss for the year  - -   -  (4,492,439 )  (4,492,439 )
         
Utilisation of revaluation portion of impaired assets  -       (112,647 ) 112,647   -   
         
Balance as at 1 April 2012  38,431,729  199,761  104,000,177  19,783,517   162,415,184 
         
Loss for the year  -     -     -     (76,383,789 )  (76,383,789 )
         
Revaluation adjustments  -    -    10,048,102   -     10,048,102 
         
Utilisation of reserve portion of disposed assets  -     -     (272,483 )  272,483  -   
         
Balance as at 31 March 2013  38,431,729   199,761      113,775,796  (56,327,789 )  96,079,497 
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2013

CORPORATION        
 Stated share Other capital  Revaluation  Retained 
 capital reserves  Reserve  earnings           Total
 P P  P  P  P
         
Restated Balance as at 1 April 2011  38,431,729   199,761  103,635,888   25,254,834   167,522,212 
         
Revaluation adjustments  -     -    108,634   -     108,634 
         
Loss for the year  -      -     -     (3,593,991 )  (3,593,991 )
         
Utilisation of revaluation portion of impaired assets  -       (23,520 )  23,520   -   
         
Balance as at 1 April 2012  38,431,729   199,761   103,721,002   21,684,363   164,036,855 
         
Loss for the year  -     -     -     (76,566,645 )  (76,566,645 )
         
Revaluation adjustments  -     -     10,048,102   -     10,048,102 
         
Utilisation of reserve portion of disposed assets  -     -     (272,483 )  272,483   -   
         
Balance as at 31 March 2013  38,431,729   199,761    113,496,621   (54,609,798 )  97,518,312 
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
For the year ended 31 March 2013

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for property, plant and equipment that 
have been measured at revalued amounts. The financial statements are presented in Botswana Pula (P).

1.1 Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Botswana Postal Services and its subsidiary Botswana 
Couriers (Pty) Ltd.

The accounting policies of the subsidiary are in line with those of Botswana Postal Services.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and profits and losses arising out of intra-group transactions are eliminated in full 
upon consolidation.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the corporation obtains control, and continues 
to be consolidated until such control ceases.

1.2 Foreign Currency Translation
The corporation’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Botswana Pula (P), which is the corporation’s functional 
currency. That is the currency of the primary economic environment in which Botswana Postal Services operates.

Transactions in currencies other than the Botswana Pula are initially recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of 
transaction. Foreign denominated monetary assets and liabilities are retranslated at the Botswana Pula spot rate of exchange at 
the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and losses arising on translation of foreign currencies are dealt with in the income 
statement in the year in which they arise. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. 
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair 
value is determined.

Transactions with other postal administrators are governed by the Universal Postal Union (UPU) which uses Special Drawing Rights 
(SDR) as the currency to settle international balances.

1.3 Property, Plant and Equipment
Land and bulidings, motor vehicles, furniture and equipment are measured at revaluation less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses recognised after the date of revaluation. Revaluations are performed in a staggered manner as the operations of 
the corporation are dispersed all over the country. 

Revaluations are performed in the following manner
Immovable Assets                                                           3 years
Movable Assets                                                               2 years

Any revaluation surplus is credited to the revaluation reserve included in equity in the balance sheet, except to the extent that it 
reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in the income statement. A revaluation deficit is recognised 
in the income statement, except to the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset recognised in the revalution 
reserve.

Accumulated depreciation as at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net 
amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset being 
sold is transferred to retained earnings.

Depreciation is calculated on the depreciable amount on a straight line basis over the useful life of the asset as follows:
Buildings                                                                  50 years
Motor vehicles                                                          5 years
Furniture and equipment                                     3 to 7 years
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2013

Depreciable amount is the cost or revaluation amount of the asset, less its residual value.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or 
disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the income statement in the year in which the asset is derecognised.

The assets residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year end, and adjusted 
prospectively if appropriate.

Work in progress is stated at cost.

1.4 Intangible Assets
Intangible assets consist of purchased software and are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible 
assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that 
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation expense on intangible assets is recognised in the income statement in the 
expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.                                                                                        

The estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted 
for on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset, and are recognised in the income statement when the asset is derecognised.

1.5 Operating Leases
Leases where the organisation does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership are classified as operating leases. 

1.5.1 Botswana Post as lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight line basis over the lease term. The 
difference between the expense determined on a straight line basis and the actual lease payments is recognised as a deferred lease 
asset or liability in the balance sheet.

1.5.2 Botswana Post as lessor
Operating lease payments received are recognised as rental income in the income statement on a straight line basis over the lease 
term. The difference between the income determined on a straight line basis and the actual lease payments received is recognised 
as a deferred lease asset or liability in the balance sheet.

1.6 Finance Leases
Finance leases,which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are 
capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower at the present value of minimum 
lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a 
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in the income statement. 

Leased assets are depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However , if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain 
ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the 
lease term.

1.7 Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of 
time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the respective assets. All other borrowing costs are expensed 
in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2013

1.8 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is purchase cost, determined on a first in first out basis, 
including transport and handling costs.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

1.9 Government Grants
Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attached conditions 
will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income over the period necessary to match the 
grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. When the grant relates to an asset, it is recognised as 
deferred income and released to income in equal amounts over the useful life of the asset.

Where non-monetary grants are received, the asset and the grant are recorded at nominal amounts and released to the income 
statement over the expected useful life of the asset by equal annual instalments.

1.10 Impairment Of Non-Financial Assets
BotswanaPost assesses at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication 
exists, an estimate of the recoverable amount is made. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of  the asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell, and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. 

Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired 
asset, except for property previously revalued where the revaluation surplus was taken to equity. In respect of that asset, the 
impairment is also recognised in equity up to the amount of any previous revaluation surplus.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses 
may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the organisation estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. A 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a  change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset 
does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised  in the income statement unless 
the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.11 Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognised only when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the organisation 
and the revenue can be measured reliably. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, excluding discounts, 
rebates, value added tax or duty. The following specific recognition criteria should also be met before revenue is recognised:

1.11.1 Box and bag rentals
These are amounts paid by customers for the rental of private post boxes and bags. Revenue is recognised on an accrual basis 
over the rented period.

1.11.2 Mail revenue and bulk mail revenue
Mail services include both letter and parcel delivery and revenue from these services is recognised upon delivery of the mail or parcel 
to its destination. Bulk mail is a mail sorting and delivery service offered to customers with large mailing lists such as banks. Revenue 
from bulk mail services is recognised upon delivery of the mail to its destination.

1.11.3 Expedited Mail Service (EMS) revenue
This is an express courier service and revenue is recognised upon delivery of the parcel to its intended destination.
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1.11.4 Terminal and transit dues
Terminal dues are amounts due to Botswana Post for mail received from foreign postal administrators whose destination is Botswana. 
Transit dues are amounts due from international postal administrators for international mail which passes through BotswanaPost in 
transit to its destination out of Botswana. Revenue from terminal and transit dues is recognised once the mail has been delivered to 
its destination in the case of terminal dues, and once it has been sent off to its next stop with regard to the latter.

1.11.5 Sale of philatelic products
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer.

1.11.6 Agency fees and commissions
Revenue from rendering of agency services is recognised as the services are provided in accordance with the terms of the agency 
agreement.

1.11.7 Interest income
Revenue is recognised as interest accrues (using the effective interest method). Interest income is included in finance revenue in the 
income statement.

1.11.8 Rental income
Rental income arising from operating leases is accounted for on a straight line basis over the lease terms.

1.12 Cash and Short Term Deposits
Cash and short term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short term deposits 
with an original maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of short term deposits, as defined 
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

1.13 Financial Assets

1.13.1 Initial recognition
Financial assets within the definition of IAS39  are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, 
held-to-maturity investments available-for-sale financial assets or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective 
hedge, as appropriate. The corporation determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

Financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly 
attributable transaction costs.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention in 
the marketplace (regular way purchases) are recognised on the trade date, I.e. the date that the corporation commits to purchase 
or sell the asset.

The corporations financial assets include cash and short term deposits and trade and other receivables.

1.13.2 Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

1.13.2.1 Cash and short term deposits
Cash on hand and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost. Deposits held on call are classified as loans originated by the 
corporation and carried at amortised cost.

1.13.2.2 Trade and other receivables
These are classified as loans and receivables. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other receivables are measured at 
amortised cost, which approximates the original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectable amounts.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2013
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1.14 Financial Liabilities

1.14.1 Initial recognition
Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS39  are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
borrowings or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The corporation determines 
the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowings, directly attributable transaction costs.

The corporation’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, bank overdraft and loans and borrowings.

1.14.2 Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

1.14.2.1 Interest bearing loans and borrowings
After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation 
process.

1.14.2.2 Trade and other payables
Liabilities for trade and other payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost which is the present value of the consideration 
to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the corporation.

1.14.2.3 Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated balance sheet if, and only if, there 
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise 
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

1.14.2.4 Impairment of financial instruments
The Corporation assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of 
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has ocurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss 
event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets 
that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impaiment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, 
default or delinquincy in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation 
and where observable data indicate that there is measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears 
or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

1.14.2.5 Trade and other receivables
For amounts due from trade and other receivables carried at amortised cost, the corporation first assesses individually whether 
objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial 
assets that are not individually significant. If the corporation determines that no objective evidence of impairment of assets exists 
for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar 
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for 
which an impairment loss or continues to be recognised, are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset shall be 
reduced either directly or through use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss shall be recognised in profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after 
the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced accordingly. If a future write-off 
is later recovered, the recovery is recognised in the income statement.

1.15 Derecognition of Financial Instruments
The corporation derecognises a financial asset when it loses control over the contractual rights that comprise the asset and 
consequently transfers the substantive risks and benefits associated with the asset.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

1.16 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the organisation has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the income statement.

1.17 Taxation
Botswana Postal Services is exempt from income tax in terms of the income Tax Act. However, Botswana Couries (Pty) Ltd is 
taxable.

1.17.1 Current income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from 
or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and laws used to compute the amount are those enacted or substantively enacted 
by the balance sheet date.

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the income statement.

1.17.2 Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases 
of assets and libilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised 
for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such 
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a 
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised 
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

1.18 Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates
The preparation of the corporation’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the 
reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.

The following are critical judgements and estimates that management has made in the process of applying the entities’ accounting 
policies and have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

1.18.1 Revaluation,  useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment
The corporation engaged independent valuation experts to determine the market values of the revalued assets at 31 March 2011. 
The results of this valuation exercise were used as the basis for revaluation of the assets. The estimation of the useful life and residual 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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value of an asset is a matter of judgement based on past experience of the corporation with similar assets and the intention of 
management.

1.18.2 Useful lives of intangible assets
The estimation of the useful life of an intangible asset is a matter of judgement based on past experience of the Corporation with 
similar assets and the intention of management.

1.18.3 Provisions
Management estimated an estimate for provisions raised based on information available.

1.18.4 Contingent liabilities
Management applies its judgement to information received from its attorneys and other advisors in assessing if an obligation is 
probable, more likely than not, or remote. This judgement application is used to determine if the obligation is recognised as a liability 
or disclosed as a contingent liability.

1.18.5 Impairment of trade and other receivables
The impairment of trade and other receivables was based on a combination of specifically identified doubtful debtors and providing 
for older debtors.

1.18.6 Impairment of slow moving inventory
Management assumed inventory that has not moved for a 12 month period to be obsolete and have no value. The basis for the 
provision raised is the full cost or net realisable value of the product.

1.18.7 Deferred tax assets
Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. There are many transactions 
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The company recognises 
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of 
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax 
provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 

The corporation recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is probable that the 
deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred income tax assets 
requires the company to make significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. Estimates of future taxable 
income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent 
that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the company to realise the net deferred tax 
assets recorded at the balance sheet date could be impacted.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2013
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        GROUP                      CORPORATION
   2013  2012  2013  2012
    P   P   P   P 

2.   REVENUE         
 Agency services    75,603,730   79,807,507   75,603,730   79,807,507 
  Box and bag rentals    22,590,802   16,110,105   22,590,802   16,110,105 
  Bulk mail    42,581,720   34,003,438   42,581,720   34,003,438 
  Courier Income    19,805,274   16,964,168   -     -   
  EMS revenue    6,336,797   6,711,025   6,336,797   6,711,025 
  Mail revenue    38,109,359   35,505,057   38,109,359   35,505,057 
  Money Transfer Commission    20,551,392   18,803,951   20,551,392   18,803,951 
  Philatelic products    1,228,504   1,368,015   1,228,504   1,368,015 
  Terminal/Transit dues    7,175,987   7,272,623   7,175,987   7,272,623 
         
    233,983,565   216,545,889   214,178,291   199,581,721 
         
3.   COST OF SALES         
 Advertisement and promotion   3,723,290   4,798,860   3,723,290   4,798,860 
 Airtime Expense   30,331,183   36,973,798   30,331,183   36,973,798 
 Compensation to customers   22,531   11,093   22,531   11,093 
 Depreciation   5,799,587   3,199,670   4,497,214   2,127,549 
 Discount allowed   3,048,566   4,553,428   3,048,566   4,553,428 
 Fees paid postal agencies   301,150   301,900   301,150   301,900 
 Mail bags and other consumables   690,533   870,813   690,533   870,813 
 Mail conveyance costs    17,172,020   16,125,170   11,848,497   11,460,675 
 Maintenance post boxes   49,506   18,935   49,506   18,935 
 Merchandise Expense   222,947   291,278   222,947   291,278 
 Printing of stamps   122,155   115,029   122,155   115,029 
 Salaries   56,213,592   40,848,463   56,213,592   40,848,463 
 Staff transport   635,788   626,078   635,788   626,078 
 Stamp vendor’s commission   -     168,162   -     168,162 
 Stock adjustment   -     514,861   -     514,861 
         
    118,332,845   109,417,538   111,706,949   103,680,922 
         
4.   OTHER INCOME           

Business services    52,547   207,624   52,547   207,624 
  Directors’ fees received    23,350   6,160   23,350   6,160 
  Government grant    4,526,343   4,526,343   4,526,343   4,526,343 
  Operating lease income    1,421,843   1,458,311   1,421,843   1,458,311 
  Newspaper and periodicals registration fees    120,832   34,064   120,832   34,064 
  Profit on disposal of assets    -     35,400   -     11,656 
  Sale of merchandise    452,164   481,451   452,164   481,451 
  Staff housing rental recoveries    419,974   201,640   419,974   201,640 
  Sundry income    3,175,736   3,671,669   2,895,893   3,573,227 
  Void Money Order    -     51,693   -    51,693 
         
    10,192,788   10,674,355   9,912,945   10,552,169 

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2013
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        GROUP                      CORPORATION
   2013  2012  2013  2012
    P   P   P   P 

5.   ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES         
 Audit fees   575,189   486,718   486,389   398,718 
 Bad Debts   134,868   205,191   -     -   
 Cleaning   1,201,923   1,177,381   1,151,067   1,087,070 
 Depreciation   14,877,098   12,808,305   14,525,757   12,609,010 
 Directors fees and board expenses   1,253,664   720,457   582,074   585,797 
 Doubtful debts   6,921,252   436,453   6,921,252   436,453 
 Electricity   2,346,738   2,071,847   2,333,688   2,024,753 
 Insurance   2,942,778   2,143,509   2,652,904   1,886,897 
 Loss on disposal of assets   2,731,356   -     2,731,356   -   
 Merger Costs   -     1,157,567   -     1,157,567 
 Strategy costs   762,467   -     762,467   -   
 Office expenses   766,220   705,451   653,637   712,739 
 Printing and stationery   5,492,789   5,750,106   5,148,142   5,426,397 
 Professional and legal fees   5,753,592   4,717,304   5,445,481   4,619,463 
 Rent and rates   3,038,757   2,505,373   2,760,104   2,238,365 
 Repairs and maintenance   9,493,385   6,282,718   9,256,745   5,921,172 
 Salaries   50,274,363   48,408,840   42,915,599   41,035,785 
 Sales promotion and advertising   858,669   630,044   230,485   346,187 
 Security and alarm    5,246,857   3,788,126   5,156,224   3,692,698 
 Subscriptions and licences   2,420,889   291,803   2,360,524   222,229 
 Telephone and fax   8,021,785   7,122,457   7,425,520   6,576,304 
 Training    2,873,486   1,982,154   2,822,818   1,903,943 
 Travelling   7,285,951   6,418,526   6,693,283   5,927,182 
 Water   437,378   355,138   429,759   339,441 
         
    135,711,454   110,165,468   123,445,275   99,148,170 
         
6.   OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES         
  Donations    619,334   461,409   619,334   461,409 
  Other expenses    374,128   84,460   374,128   84,460 
  Defalcations    8,153   (242,312 )  8,153   (242,312)
         
    1,001,615   303,557   1,001,615   303,557 
         
7.   FINANCE  COST           

Bank charges and interest    929,551   799,024   714,555   691,310 
  Motor vehicle lease charges    6,528,258   4,792,190   6,280,559   4,466,000 
  Interest on borrowings    8,363,837   4,335,431   7,732,929   3,680,205 
         
    15,821,646   9,926,645  14,728,043   8,837,515 
         
8.   FINANCE  INCOME         
  Interest income from short term deposits    169,047   260,923   169,047   260,923 
  Interest income on call accounts from banks    190,590   303,131   190,590   301,074 
         
    359,637   564,054   359,637   561,997 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2013
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9.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT           
           
9.1  Group - Cost or Valuation           
   Land and  Motor  Leased  Furniture &  Project
  buildings at  vehicles at  motor  equipment at  (kitsong)  BAPS  IFS  Work in
  valuation  valuation  vehicles  valuation  assets  assets  assets  progress at cost  Total
  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P 

 
  Balance as at 31 March 2011  180,842,713   7,357,720   15,183,000    23,215,064    19,127,102   2,770,996   97,553   14,637,944    263,232,092 
           
  Additions   8,571,045   -     5,358,330    7,792,632    -     -     679,871   31,933,872    54,335,750 
  Disposals   (97,035 )  (65,000 )  (653,999 )  -     -     -     -     -     (816,034 )
  Impairment *   (455,000)  -     (117,000 )  (14,530 )  (192,002 )  -     -     -     (778,532 )
  Revaluations    108,634   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     108,634 
           
  At 1st April 2012   188,970,357   7,292,720   19,770,331    30,993,166    18,935,100   2,770,996   777,424   46,571,816    316,081,910 
           
 Additions  3,199,493   -     8,401,399    5,047,021    -     -     -     44,905,261    61,553,174 
 Transfers  46,461,472   -     -     9,995,546    -     -     -     (86,236,515 )  (29,779,497 )
 Disposals  (1 )  (762,568 )  (4,122,000 )  (671,450 )  -     -     -     -     (5,556,019 )
 Impairment *  -     (142,047 )  (5,305,031 )  (13,916,745 )  -     -     -     -     (19,363,823 )
 Revaluations   -     62,425   1,371,982    7,919,162    -     -     -     -     9,353,569 
           
  At 31 March 2013   238,631,321   6,450,530   20,116,681    39,366,699    18,935,100   2,770,996   777,424   5,240,562    332,289,314 
           
 In line with the Corporation’s accounting policies, movable property, plant and equipment was revalued. This exercise was
 carried out by Willy Kathurima Associates,  professionally qualified valuers.  It is management’s considered view that the
 carrying values shown as at 31 March 2013 are a fair representation of the the amounts  that are expected to be recovered
 through the use or sale of the assets. The next revaluation exercise will be conducted as at 31 March 2014 for all
 immoveable assets. 

9.2  Group - Depreciation  

  Balance as at 31 March 2011   1,479,795   2,945,277   -     801,990    6,979,704   692,749   1,626   -     12,901,141 
           
  Depreciation charge for the year   1,353,621   109,347   2,862,805    6,515,879    3,825,420   554,199   110,160   -     15,331,431 
  Disposals   (33,907 )  (3,900 )  (510,161 )  -     -     -     -     -     (547,968 )
  Impairment loss*   (2,108 )  -     (14,267 )  (89,936 )  (83,201 )  -     -     -     (189,512 )
           
  At 1st April 2012   2,797,401   3,050,724   2,338,377    7,227,933    10,721,923   1,246,948   111,786   -     27,495,092 
           
  Depreciation charge for the year 1,829,082   1,397,162   4,120,900    8,270,353    3,422,195   554,199   155,485   -     19,749,376 
  Disposals  -     (57,922 )  (592,288 )  (240,173 )  -     -     -     -     (890,382 )
  Impairment loss*  -     (142,047 )  (5,305,031 )  (13,916,745 )  -     -     -     -     (19,363,823 )
           
  At 31 March 2013  4,626,483   4,247,918   561,959    1,341,368    14,144,118   1,801,147   267,271   -     26,990,264 
                    

CARRYING VALUE           
  At 31 March 2013  234,004,838   2,202,612   19,554,722    38,025,331    4,790,982   969,849   510,153   5,240,562    305,299,050 
           
  At 31 March 2012 186,172,956   4,241,996   17,431,954    23,765,233    8,213,177   1,524,048   665,638   46,571,816    288,586,818 
           
  At 31 March 2011   179,362,918   4,412,443   15,183,000    22,413,074    12,147,398   2,078,247   95,927   14,637,944    250,330,950 
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9.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT           
           
9.1  Group - Cost or Valuation           
   Land and  Motor  Leased  Furniture &  Project
  buildings at  vehicles at  motor  equipment at  (kitsong)  BAPS  IFS  Work in
  valuation  valuation  vehicles  valuation  assets  assets  assets  progress at cost  Total
  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P 

 
  Balance as at 31 March 2011  180,842,713   7,357,720   15,183,000    23,215,064    19,127,102   2,770,996   97,553   14,637,944    263,232,092 
           
  Additions   8,571,045   -     5,358,330    7,792,632    -     -     679,871   31,933,872    54,335,750 
  Disposals   (97,035 )  (65,000 )  (653,999 )  -     -     -     -     -     (816,034 )
  Impairment *   (455,000)  -     (117,000 )  (14,530 )  (192,002 )  -     -     -     (778,532 )
  Revaluations    108,634   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     108,634 
           
  At 1st April 2012   188,970,357   7,292,720   19,770,331    30,993,166    18,935,100   2,770,996   777,424   46,571,816    316,081,910 
           
 Additions  3,199,493   -     8,401,399    5,047,021    -     -     -     44,905,261    61,553,174 
 Transfers  46,461,472   -     -     9,995,546    -     -     -     (86,236,515 )  (29,779,497 )
 Disposals  (1 )  (762,568 )  (4,122,000 )  (671,450 )  -     -     -     -     (5,556,019 )
 Impairment *  -     (142,047 )  (5,305,031 )  (13,916,745 )  -     -     -     -     (19,363,823 )
 Revaluations   -     62,425   1,371,982    7,919,162    -     -     -     -     9,353,569 
           
  At 31 March 2013   238,631,321   6,450,530   20,116,681    39,366,699    18,935,100   2,770,996   777,424   5,240,562    332,289,314 
           
 In line with the Corporation’s accounting policies, movable property, plant and equipment was revalued. This exercise was
 carried out by Willy Kathurima Associates,  professionally qualified valuers.  It is management’s considered view that the
 carrying values shown as at 31 March 2013 are a fair representation of the the amounts  that are expected to be recovered
 through the use or sale of the assets. The next revaluation exercise will be conducted as at 31 March 2014 for all
 immoveable assets. 

9.2  Group - Depreciation  

  Balance as at 31 March 2011   1,479,795   2,945,277   -     801,990    6,979,704   692,749   1,626   -     12,901,141 
           
  Depreciation charge for the year   1,353,621   109,347   2,862,805    6,515,879    3,825,420   554,199   110,160   -     15,331,431 
  Disposals   (33,907 )  (3,900 )  (510,161 )  -     -     -     -     -     (547,968 )
  Impairment loss*   (2,108 )  -     (14,267 )  (89,936 )  (83,201 )  -     -     -     (189,512 )
           
  At 1st April 2012   2,797,401   3,050,724   2,338,377    7,227,933    10,721,923   1,246,948   111,786   -     27,495,092 
           
  Depreciation charge for the year 1,829,082   1,397,162   4,120,900    8,270,353    3,422,195   554,199   155,485   -     19,749,376 
  Disposals  -     (57,922 )  (592,288 )  (240,173 )  -     -     -     -     (890,382 )
  Impairment loss*  -     (142,047 )  (5,305,031 )  (13,916,745 )  -     -     -     -     (19,363,823 )
           
  At 31 March 2013  4,626,483   4,247,918   561,959    1,341,368    14,144,118   1,801,147   267,271   -     26,990,264 
                    

CARRYING VALUE           
  At 31 March 2013  234,004,838   2,202,612   19,554,722    38,025,331    4,790,982   969,849   510,153   5,240,562    305,299,050 
           
  At 31 March 2012 186,172,956   4,241,996   17,431,954    23,765,233    8,213,177   1,524,048   665,638   46,571,816    288,586,818 
           
  At 31 March 2011   179,362,918   4,412,443   15,183,000    22,413,074    12,147,398   2,078,247   95,927   14,637,944    250,330,950 
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9.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT           
           
9.3  Corporation - Cost Or Valuation           
   Land and  Motor  Leased  Furniture &  Project
  buildings at  vehicles at  motor  equipment at  (kitsong)  BAPS  IFS  Work in
  valuation  valuation  vehicles  valuation  assets  assets  assets  progress at cost  Total
  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P 

 
 Balance as at 31 March 2011   171,904,649   2,033,165   15,183,000    21,759,417    19,127,102   2,770,996   97,553   14,637,944    247,513,826 
          
  Additions   8,467,789   -     3,631,071    6,608,691    -     -     679,871   31,933,872    51,321,294 
  Disposals   (97,034 )  (65,000 )  -     -     -     -     -     -     (162,034 )
  Impairment    (455,000 )  -     (117,000 )  (14,530 )  (192,002 )  -     -     -     (778,532 )
  Revaluations    108,634   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     108,634 
          
  At 1st April 2012   179,929,039   1,968,165   18,697,071    28,353,578    18,935,100   2,770,996   777,424   46,571,816    298,003,189 
          
  Additions   3,199,493   -     8,401,399    5,027,379    -     -     -     44,905,261    61,533,531 
  Transfers   46,461,472   -     -     9,995,546    -     -     -     (86,236,515 )  (29,779,497 )
  Disposals   -     (762,568 )  (4,122,000 )  (671,450 )  -     -     -     -     (5,556,018 )
  Elimination*   -     (142,047 )  (5,305,031 )  (13,916,745 )  -     -     -     -     (19,363,824 )
  Revaluations    -     62,425   1,371,982    7,919,162    -     -     -     -     9,353,569 
          
  At 31 March 2013   229,590,004   1,125,975   19,043,421    36,707,470    18,935,100   2,770,996   777,424   5,240,562    314,190,951

9.4  Corporation - Depreciation  

 Restated balance as at
 31 March 2011   1,335,005   -     -     -     6,979,704   692,749   1,626   -     9,009,084 
           
  Depreciation charge for the year   1,353,621   109,347   1,790,685    6,316,583    3,825,420   554,199   110,160   -     14,060,015 
  Disposals   (33,907 )  (3,900 )  -     -     -     -     -     -     (37,807 )
  Impairment loss   (2,108 )  -     (14,267 )  (89,936 )  (83,201 )  -     -     -     (189,512 )
           
  Balance as at 1st April 2012 2,652,611   105,447   1,776,418   6,226,647   10,721,923   1,246,948   111,786   -     22,841,780 
           
  Depreciation charge for the year 1,829,082   94,521   4,120,900    7,930,271    3,422,195   554,199   155,485     18,106,653 
  Disposals    -     (57,922 )  (592,288 )  (240,173 )  -     -     -     -     (890,383 )
  Elimination*    -     (142,047 )  (5,305,031 )  (13,916,745 )  -     -     -     -     (19,363,823 )
           
  At 31 March 2013   4,481,693   -     -     -     14,144,117   1,801,147   267,271   -     20,694,228 
           
  CARRYING VALUE           
           
  At 31 March 2013  225,108,311   1,125,975   19,043,421    36,707,470    4,790,983   969,849   510,153   5,240,562    293,496,724 
           
  At 31 March 2012 177,276,428   1,862,718   16,920,653    22,126,931    8,213,178   1,524,048   665,638   46,571,816    275,161,408 
           
  At 31 March 2011 170,569,644   2,033,165   15,183,000    21,759,417    12,147,398   2,078,247   95,927   14,637,944    238,504,742 
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9.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT           
           
9.3  Corporation - Cost Or Valuation           
   Land and  Motor  Leased  Furniture &  Project
  buildings at  vehicles at  motor  equipment at  (kitsong)  BAPS  IFS  Work in
  valuation  valuation  vehicles  valuation  assets  assets  assets  progress at cost  Total
  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P 

 
 Balance as at 31 March 2011   171,904,649   2,033,165   15,183,000    21,759,417    19,127,102   2,770,996   97,553   14,637,944    247,513,826 
          
  Additions   8,467,789   -     3,631,071    6,608,691    -     -     679,871   31,933,872    51,321,294 
  Disposals   (97,034 )  (65,000 )  -     -     -     -     -     -     (162,034 )
  Impairment    (455,000 )  -     (117,000 )  (14,530 )  (192,002 )  -     -     -     (778,532 )
  Revaluations    108,634   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     108,634 
          
  At 1st April 2012   179,929,039   1,968,165   18,697,071    28,353,578    18,935,100   2,770,996   777,424   46,571,816    298,003,189 
          
  Additions   3,199,493   -     8,401,399    5,027,379    -     -     -     44,905,261    61,533,531 
  Transfers   46,461,472   -     -     9,995,546    -     -     -     (86,236,515 )  (29,779,497 )
  Disposals   -     (762,568 )  (4,122,000 )  (671,450 )  -     -     -     -     (5,556,018 )
  Elimination*   -     (142,047 )  (5,305,031 )  (13,916,745 )  -     -     -     -     (19,363,824 )
  Revaluations    -     62,425   1,371,982    7,919,162    -     -     -     -     9,353,569 
          
  At 31 March 2013   229,590,004   1,125,975   19,043,421    36,707,470    18,935,100   2,770,996   777,424   5,240,562    314,190,951

9.4  Corporation - Depreciation  

 Restated balance as at
 31 March 2011   1,335,005   -     -     -     6,979,704   692,749   1,626   -     9,009,084 
           
  Depreciation charge for the year   1,353,621   109,347   1,790,685    6,316,583    3,825,420   554,199   110,160   -     14,060,015 
  Disposals   (33,907 )  (3,900 )  -     -     -     -     -     -     (37,807 )
  Impairment loss   (2,108 )  -     (14,267 )  (89,936 )  (83,201 )  -     -     -     (189,512 )
           
  Balance as at 1st April 2012 2,652,611   105,447   1,776,418   6,226,647   10,721,923   1,246,948   111,786   -     22,841,780 
           
  Depreciation charge for the year 1,829,082   94,521   4,120,900    7,930,271    3,422,195   554,199   155,485     18,106,653 
  Disposals    -     (57,922 )  (592,288 )  (240,173 )  -     -     -     -     (890,383 )
  Elimination*    -     (142,047 )  (5,305,031 )  (13,916,745 )  -     -     -     -     (19,363,823 )
           
  At 31 March 2013   4,481,693   -     -     -     14,144,117   1,801,147   267,271   -     20,694,228 
           
  CARRYING VALUE           
           
  At 31 March 2013  225,108,311   1,125,975   19,043,421    36,707,470    4,790,983   969,849   510,153   5,240,562    293,496,724 
           
  At 31 March 2012 177,276,428   1,862,718   16,920,653    22,126,931    8,213,178   1,524,048   665,638   46,571,816    275,161,408 
           
  At 31 March 2011 170,569,644   2,033,165   15,183,000    21,759,417    12,147,398   2,078,247   95,927   14,637,944    238,504,742 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2013



Botswana Postal Services Annual Report 201368

       Counter 
       Automation 
      Software   Software   Total 
      P   P   P 

10.   INTANGIBLE ASSETS     

10.1 Group   
  COST     
  At 1 April 2011      2,597,278   3,654,005   6,251,283 
  Additions      168,161   -     168,161 
  At 31 March 2012      2,765,439   3,654,005   6,419,444 
  Additions      1,535,297   29,779,497   31,314,794 
  At 31 March 2013      4,300,736   33,433,502   37,734,238 
     
  AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT     
  At 1 April 2011     2,446,126   3,654,005   6,100,131 
  Amortisation      87,525   -     87,525 
  At 31 March 2012      2,533,651   3,654,005   6,187,656 
  Amortisation      232,773   -     232,773 
  At 31 March 2013      2,766,424   3,654,005   6,420,429 
     
  NET BOOK VALUE     
  At 31 March 2013      1,534,312   29,779,497   31,313,809 
  At 31 March 2012      231,788   -     231,788 
  At 31 March 2011     151,152   -     151,152 
     
 10.2  Corporation    
     
  COST     
  At 1 April 2011      2,597,278   3,654,005   6,251,283 
  Additions      135,161   -     135,160.8 
  At 31 March 2012      2,732,439   3,654,005   6,386,444 
  Additions      1,535,297   29,779,497   31,314,794 
  At 31 March 2013      4,267,736   33,433,502   37,701,238 
     
  AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT     
  At 1 April 2011     2,446,126   3,654,005   6,100,131 
  Amortisation      87,525   -     87,525 
  At 31 March 2012     2,533,651   3,654,005   6,187,656 
  Amortisation      221,784   -     221,784 
  At 31 March 2013      2,755,435   3,654,005   6,409,440 
     
  NET BOOK VALUE     
  At 31 March 2013      1,512,301   29,779,497   31,291,798 
  At 31 March 2012      198,788   -     198,788 
  At 31 March 2011      151,152   -     151,152 
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        GROUP                      CORPORATION
   2013  2012  2013  2012
    P   P   P   P 

 11.   INVENTORIES         
  Definitive stamps    387,120   232,393   387,120   232,393 
  Postal orders and postal stocks    56,409   25,880   56,409   25,880 
  Kiosks, nests, pillar boxes and equipment    359   17,351   359   17,351 
  Stationery and other consumables    7,289,130   3,740,378   7,289,130   3,740,378 
         
  Total inventories at lower of cost and net realisable value   7,733,017   4,016,002   7,733,017   4,016,002 
         
 12.   TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES         
  Trade receivables    65,093,190   44,382,505   59,509,717   41,274,776 
  Less: Provision for Doubtful Debts    (8,200,713 )  (834,224 )  (7,910,661 )  (989,408 )
  Receivables from related parties    (2,743,876 )  (2,109,232 )  -     -   
    54,148,601   41,439,049   51,599,056   40,285,368 
         
  Staff advances    716,247   878,022   716,247   878,022 
  Prepayments and deposits    5,779,407   3,026,506   5,652,720   2,794,052 
  Other receivables    7,951,983   5,588,312  7,672,424   5,395,161 
  Less: Provision for Defalcations    (244,221 )  (342,929 )  (244,221 )  (342,929 )
         
    68,352,017   50,588,960   65,396,226   49,009,674 
         
 Trade receivables are are non-interest  bearing and
 are generally on 30-60 day terms. Staff advances may
 be up to 6 months.         
         
12.1  Trade Receivables         
  Neither past due nor impaired    15,431,043   15,811,905   15,883,405   14,772,141 
  less than 30 days    1,222,058   124,970   1,222,058   124,970 
  between 30 days and 60 days    12,271,046   11,591,950   10,929,427   12,115,973 
  between 60 days and 90 days    4,008,943   409,259   3,497,573   138,476 
  more than 90 days    29,416,224   14,335,188   27,977,254   14,123,215 
  Provision for Doubtful Debts    (8,200,713 )  (834,224 )  (7,910,661 )  (989,408 )
          
  Net Carrying Amount    54,148,601   41,439,049   51,599,056   40,285,368

 “ The movement in the provision for impairment of trade
 and other receivables is set out below:”      
       
12.2  Provision For Doubtful Debts       
    Collectively     Collectively    

  impaired    impaired    
At 31 March 2011    (1,092,338 )    (1,017,534 )

  Charge for the year    258,114    28,126 
       
  At 1st April 2012    (834,223 )   (989,408 )
  Charge for the year    (7,366,490)    (6,921,253 )
       

  At 31 March 2013    (8,200,713 )   7,910,661 ) 
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        GROUP                      CORPORATION
   2013  2012  2013  2012
    P   P   P   P 

 13.   CASH AND SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS         
 Cash at banks and on hand    26,298,738   3,889,146   26,275,844   3,882,257 
  Short-term deposits    45,078,968   3,798,383   45,078,968   3,798,383 
          
    71,377,706   7,687,529   71,354,812   7,680,639 
          
  Bank overdraft    (411,588 )  (360,382 )  -     -   
          
    70,966,118   7,327,147   71,354,812   7,680,640 
          
 Short term deposits are made at for varying periods
 between one day and three months, depending on the
 immdeiate cash requirements of the group, and earn
 interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.        
          
 The subsidiary, Botswana Couriers (Pty) Ltd has an
 overdraft facility amounting to P500,000 2012 : P500,000),
 The facility is secured by trade receivables.        
          
 14.   STATED CAPITAL AND RESERVES         

 Stated share capital         
 Stated capital held 100 % by the government of Botswana   38,431,729   38,431,729   38,431,729   38,431,729 
          
 Other capital reserves         
 Balance as at 31 March 2013    199,761   199,761   199,761   199,761 
          
 Revaluation reserve   113,775,796  104,000,177  113,496,621  103,721,002 
          
 The revaluation reserve is used to record revaluation
 surpluses recognised on revaluation of property,         
  plant and equipment as well as deficits to such an extent
 that such deficit relates to an increase on the  same asset
 previously recognised in equity.
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        GROUP                      CORPORATION
   2013  2012  2013  2012
    P   P   P   P 

 15.   INTEREST BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS         
  Held at armortised cost         
         
  Current         
         
  First National Bank    3,494,864   2,868,425  3,038,401   2,461,327 
         
  Government of Botswana -                            Loan 24    46,057   39,370   46,057   39,370 
         
    3,540,921   2,907,795   3,084,458   2,500,697 
         
  Non- current         
         
  First National Bank    43,268,330   46,662,677   38,427,066   41,441,885 
         
  Government of Botswana -                            Loan 24    49,815   95,873   49,815   95,873 
         
  Botswana Insurance Fund Management Ltd    100,000,000   -     100,000,000   -   
         
    143,318,145   46,758,550   138,476,881   41,537,758 
          

The Government loans are unsecured and consist of advances given to Botswana Postal Services by the Government of 
Botswana.         

         
 The First National Bank loan to Botswana Postal Services is secured with interest at Prime Less 1% per annum with a 2 year 

moratorium on repayment commencing on the date of final drawn down. The loan term is 12 years.     
   

 The First National Bank loan to Botswana Couriers (Pty) Ltd is secured by 1st and 2nd covering mortgage bond of P6,500,000 
over portion 89, a portionof portion 65, (a portion of portion 3), of the Farm Forest Hill No. 9-KO, Gaborone International 
Commerce Park, house owner’s comprehensive insurance cover, letter of suretyship for an unlimited amount by Botswana 
Postal Services, Fire policy ceded and registered and memorandum of agreemnet of loan.

 The loan bears interst at the property lending rate, currently at 115. It is repayable over 10 years in mothly instalments of P86,400.   
 

 The Botswana Insurance Fund Management Loan is secured with a fixed interest of 9.75% per annum with a 19  year 
moratorium on capital repayments. The loan was received in March 2013 for a loan term of 20 years.     
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        GROUP                      CORPORATION
   2013  2012  2013  2012
    P   P   P   P 

16.   GOVERNMENT GRANTS         
  Balance as at 1 April 2012    64,129,028   48,655,370   64,129,028   48,655,370 
  Received during the year    30,000,000   20,000,000   30,000,000   20,000,000 
  Released to income statement    (4,526,342 )  (4,526,342 ) (4,526,342 )  (4,526,342 )
         
  Balance as at 31 March 2013    89,602,685   64,129,028   89,602,685   64,129,028 
         
  Current    4,526,340   4,526,340   4,526,340   4,526,340 
  Non- current    85,076,345   59,602,688   85,076,345   59,602,688 
         
    89,602,685   64,129,028   89,602,685   64,129,028 
         
 17.   TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES         
  Trade payables    54,983,800   27,789,723   50,713,270   23,540,858 
  Other payables    84,579,993   35,037,291   81,677,189   33,307,151 
  Provision for Defalcations    -     -     -     -   
  Due to related parties    (2,743,876 )  (1,801,149 )  -     -   
         
    136,819,917   61,025,865   132,390,459   56,848,009 
         
 18.  FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATION        
 Finance lease obligation    14,261,269   13,389,298   12,430,062   11,244,445 
         
  Shorterm portion disclosed under current liabilities    8,111,452   7,780,602   7,196,687   6,289,670 
         
  Long term portion    6,149,817   5,608,696   5,233,375   4,954,775 
         
    14,261,269   13,389,298   12,430,062   11,244,445 
         
 19.   DEFERRED TAX         
  Deferred Tax Asset/(Liability)         
         
  Accelerated capital allowances for tax purposes    (41,577 )  (150,133 )  -     -   
  Recognised in other comprehensive income    -     25,138   -     -   
         
    (41,577 )  (124,995 )  -     -   
         
  Reconciliation of deferred tax asset (liability)         
         
  At beginning of the year    (124,995 )  18,820   -     -   
  Reduction due to rate change    -     (2,258 )    
  Originating temporary difference on tangible fixed assets   83,418   (166,695 )  -     -   
  Originating temporary difference on revaluation of property   -     25,138   -     -   
         
    (41,577 )  (124,995 )  -     -   
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        GROUP                      CORPORATION
   2013  2012  2013  2012
    P   P   P   P 

20.  CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS        
 Loss before taxation   (76,467,207 )  (4,348,624 )  (76,566,645 )  (3,593,991 )
 Adjustment to reconcile loss before tax to net cash flows        
 Non-cash:        
 Depreciation and impairment of property and equipment   20,454,901   15,920,451   18,801,187   14,649,035 
 Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets   221,784   87,525   221,784   87,525 
 Loss on disposal of property and equipment   2,731,356   (35,400 )  2,731,356   (11,656 )
 Write off of Lease Obligation on disposed vehicles   1,148,350    1,148,350    

-   
 Finance income   (359,637)   (564,054 )  (359,637 )  (561,997 )
 Finance cost   15,606,650   9,818,930   14,728,043   8,837,515 
 Amortisation of government grants   (4,526,343)   (4,526,343 )  (4,526,343 )  (4,526,343 )
 Movement in provisions   -     (273,021 )  -    
 Loss/(Profit) on foreign exchange   53,096   (4,292 )  -    -   
         
 Working capital adjustments:        
 Increase in inventories   (3,717,016 )  1,890,632   (3,717,016 )  1,890,632 
 Increase in trade and other receivables   (18,702,374 )  (14,741,238 )  (16,386,551 )  (13,469,221 )
 Increase in trade and other payables   76,683,663   2,402,877   75,542,450   (958,201)
         
 Cash generated from operating activities   13,127,225   5,627,443   11,616,979   2,343,298 
         
         
 21.   COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT
 PERSONNEL          

 
Short-term employee benefits    12,808,658   8,082,459   9,866,388   6,167,193 
         
    12,808,658   8,082,459   9,866,388   6,167,193 

 22.   RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES         
 “Below is a summary of the total amount of transactions
 that have been entered into with related parties:“        
  
     Purchases  Amounts  Amounts  

    from related  owed by  owed to
    Loans   party   related party  related party 
         
 Botswana Couriers (Pty) Ltd- subsidiary         
  2013  1,672,000   61,945   2,731,496   12,380 
  2012 1,672,000   63,241   1,790,360   10,809 
         
 Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties         
 Sales to and purchases from related parties are made at normal market prices. Outstanding balances at year end are 

unsecured and interest-free.         

 The loan to the subsidiary is interest free, unsecured and has no fixed terms of repayment. The directors consider the 
carrying value of this loan to approximate its fair value.         
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23.   GUARANTEES      
      
 Pension      
 In 1989 BotswanaPost employed former Government employees who transferred to Corporation. This comprised 

employees that had formerly been employed by the Department of Posts and Telegraph.  Those citizen employees who 
were transferred from Government in 1989 are covered under a separate defined benefit pension scheme applicable to 
Government employees to which the Corporation has not made contributions.

 These employees who were members of the Government defined benefit pension plan are also also eligible to become members 
of the BotswanaPost Staff Pension Fund which is a defined contribution plan.e fair value of its assets a reasonable return. 

 An actuarial valuation of the of the Botswana Postal Services employees and pensioners entitled to benefits under the rules 
of the Public Service of Botswana Pension Scheme was carried out as at 31 March 2013, which revealed an estimated 
contingent liability of P96.9 million, relating to the period of their employment with the Corporation.  

 Government has made an undertaking to assume full responsibility for this liability consequently no provision for any liability 
has been made in these financial statements.     

      
24.   INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY      
 As part of a restructuring exercise, Botswana Postal Services formed a fully owned subsidiary Botswana Couriers (Pty) Ltd 

in the financial year 2001-02. Botswana Couriers (Pty) Ltd carries on the business of providing courier services. 
 
 The Botswana Postal Services was initially allotted with 100 ordinary shares of P 10 each. For the year ended 31 March 2003 

Botswana Postal Services had advanced an amount of P 2,557,280 to Botswana Couriers (Pty) Ltd towards its working 
capital requirements. A decision was made to treat the advance of P 2,557,280 as an interest-bearing loan to Botswana 
Couriers (Pty) Ltd. During the year ended March 2007 the Board of Management resolved to convert the loan amount of   
P2,557,280 to equity.     

25.   GOING CONCERN      
 The Group and the Post incurred a total comprehensive loss of P76, 111,306.00  and P76, 294,162.00 respectively  (2012: 

P4, 379,792.00 and P3, 570,471.00 respectively) and have net current liabilities of P5, 947,479 and P2, 713,889 respectively. 
The conditions indicate a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group and Post to continue as a 
going concern. The going concern of the Group and the Post is dependent on continued government support.  Government 
has provided written assurance that it will continue to provide the necessary financial support to ensure the Group remains 
a going concern and meets its financial obligations as they fall due. 

 
26.   LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS      
 The Group and the Post incurred a total comprehensive loss of P76, 111,306.00  and P76, 294,162.00 respectively  (2012: 

P4, 379,792.00 and P3, 570,471.00 respectively). Consequently, the Post has not been in a position to make dividend 
payments to the Government as provided for by section 17(e) of the Botswana Postal Services Act (Cap 72:01). 

 Under the Universal Service Obligation (USO), the Post continues to provide postal services on  non-commercially viable 
terms and conditions. This, compounded by inordinate delays in the approval of prescribed tariffs and payments for services 
rendered to Government Departments has seriously compromised on the Post’s ability to ensure that its revenues are 
sufficient to produce on the fair value of its assets a reasonable return.    
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27.   BOTSWANA SAVINGS BANK AND BOTSWANA POSTAL SERVICES MERGER      
 The merger follows a Government decision to rationalize some parastatals and public entities. The government recognizes the 

historical evolution of the two entities that have seen them utilize strategic synergies to improve efficiency in service delivery. 
The merger was instituted after thorough public consultations coordinated by PEEPA. The merger exercise commenced in 
the fiscal year 2009/10 and it is expected to conclude in the fiscal year 2014/15.

 
 The merger has progressed relatively slowly due to the need to prepare enabling pieces of legislation and taking them 

through the approval process. These included the amendment of the Botswana Postal Services Act, Transition Acts of both 
the merging organisations and Promulgation of the Botswana Telecommunications Authority Act. All these have been signed 
into law with the exception of the Botswana Postal Services Transition Bill which was recently passed by Parliament. When 
signed into law, this will enable BotswanaPost to register as a company and be merged with Botswana Savings Bank under 
a holding company. Botswana Couriers, a subidiary of BotswanaPost will also be registered as a subsidiary of the holding 
company. The holding company has since been registered under the name  Botswana Post and Savings Group Limited.   
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